
KALAMAZOO COUNTY BROWNFIELD REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 

MEETING DATE: Thursday, September 26, 2024 
 PLACE OF MEETING: 201 W. Kalamazoo Ave. Kalamazoo, MI 49007 Room 207-A 
TIME:  3:00 pm  

 AGENDA 

Link to join Webinar 
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/82661203045 

Webinar ID: 826 6120 3045 

1. Call to Order:  3:00

2. Roll Call and Members Excused

3. Approval of the Agenda

4. Approval of Minutes:

a. June 13, 2024, KCBRA Committee of the Whole Minutes

b. August 8, 2024, KCBRA Committee of the Whole Minutes

c. August 22, 2024, KCBRA Regular Meeting Minutes

5. Public Comments (4 minutes each)

6. Consent Agenda

a. From General Fund

i. $2,297.75 – Fishbeck Invoice 442374 (W.O. 2024-1 Gen. Env.)

b. From EPA Grant Fund

i. $764.79 – Fishbeck Invoice 442376 (W.O. #12 Legacy Senior Living)

ii. $1,950.31 – Fishbeck Invoice 442365 (W.O. #17 Teresa’s Kitchen)

iii. $2,502.61 – Fishbeck Invoice 442368 (W.O. #18 J. Smith Ent.)

iv. $734.83 – Fishbeck Invoice 442361 (W.O. #2 Outreach & Programmatic)

c. KCBRA Business:

i. Transfer into the Local Brownfield Revolving Fund (Fund 242)

1. $2,834.64 – 9008 Portage Road 2023 State TIR

7. Discussion and/or Action Calendar

a. Discussion/Action: Fishbeck

i. General Environmental Memo & Billing Summary

ii. EPA Grant Memo & Billing Summary

iii. EPA Coalition Grant Memo

iv. 234-238 EM, LLC EPA work order #19 amendment #1

b. Action:  Landscape Forms, Inc. Draft Development Agreement with KCBRA

Item 3

1



c. Discussion: General Environmental Contract Expiring 12/31/2024

8. Financial Reports

a. Discussion: KCBRA General Fund 243 Report

b. Discussion: KCBRA Local Brownfield Revolving Fund 242 Report

9. Staff Report/Updates
a. Pending Agreement Between KCBRA & Planning Dept.
b. Staff Attended the Black Business Expo 8/24/2024
c. EPA Grant Extension Request Submitted 9/6/2024
d. 2024 Summer Tax Increment Statements Issued to Local Units of Governments
e. MEDC 2023 State Project Reporting Completed & Received Compliance Letter

10. Other

11. Board Member Comments

12. Adjournment

Next Regular Meeting: Thursday, October 24, 2024, at 3:00 p.m. 

Room 207a, County Admin Bldg - Or alternatively, held electronically or via 
teleconference.  Please see the KCBRA website at www.kalcountybrownfield.com for 

electronic meeting notice and instructions 

BOARD MEMBERS: 
PLEASE CALL 384-8305 OR EMAIL MRWALT@KALCOUNTY.COM 

IF YOU ARE UNABLE TO ATTEND THE MEETING 

Meetings of the Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority are open to all 
without regard to race, sex, color, age, national origin, religion, height, weight, marital status, 
political affiliation, sexual orientation, gender identity, or disability.  The Kalamazoo County 
Brownfield Redevelopment Authority will provide necessary reasonable auxiliary aids and 
services, such as signers for the hearing impaired and audio tapes of printed materials being 
considered at the meeting, to individuals with disabilities at the meeting upon four (4) 
business days’ notice to the Kalamazoo County BRA.  Individuals with disabilities requiring 
auxiliary aids or services should contact the Kalamazoo County BRA by writing or calling: 

Macy Rose Walters 
Brownfield Redevelopment Administrator 
Kalamazoo County Government 
201 West Kalamazoo Avenue 
Kalamazoo, MI 49007      TELEPHONE:  (269) 384-8305 

2

http://www.kalcountybrownfield.com/


KALAMAZOO COUNTY BROWNFIELD REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 

MEETING DATE: Thursday, June 13, 2024 
 PLACE OF MEETING: 201 W. Kalamazoo Ave. Kalamazoo, MI 49007 Room 207-A 
TIME:  3:00 pm  

DRAFT MINUTES 

Present: Christopher Carew, Connie Ferguson, Chad Goodwill, Jodi Milks, Kenneth Peregon, 
and Andrew Wenzel.  

Members Excused:, Jared Lutz, Monteze Morales, and David Wang.  

Vacancies:  0 

Kalamazoo Township:  none 

Oshtemo Township: none 

Staff: Rachael Grover, Macy Rose Walters 

Consultant:  Jeff Hawkins, Fishbeck 

Recording Secretary: Macy Rose Walters 

County Commissioners: none 

County Admin: none 

 Community: 5 

1. Call to Order: Chair Peregon called the meeting to order at 3:06 p.m.

2. Roll Call and Members Excused: Jared Lutz, Monteze Morales and David Wang were
excused.  Six (6) of Nine (9) voting members were present.

3. Public Comments (4 minutes each) None

4. Approval of the Agenda:

Director Ferguson moved to approve the agenda as amended, Director Milks
seconded. None opposed, motion carried.

5. Discussion Calendar:

1. Approval of Minutes from April 11, 2024, KCBRA Committee of the Whole

Director Carew moved to approve Item 1 as presented, Director Milks seconded. None 
opposed, motion carried. 

2. Jeremiah Smith Enterprises Northside Laundry & Housing Project Applications Part
I & Part II  (Discussion)

3. Kalamazoo County Land Bank Authority Scattered Site Redevelopment Plan Part I
& Part II Applications (Discussion)

Item 4 a

DRAFT

3



Other None 

6. Closed Session None

7. Adjournment Director Carew moved to adjourn at 3:47 p.m. Director Milks seconded,
meeting adjourned.

Next Meeting: Thursday, July 11th, 2024, at 3:00 p.m. 

Room 207a, County Admin Bldg  

- Or alternatively, held electronically or via teleconference.  Please see the KCBRA 
website at www.kalcountybrownfield.com for electronic meeting notice and instructions 

BOARD MEMBERS: 
PLEASE CALL 384-8305 OR EMAIL MRWALT@KALCOUNTY.COM 

IF YOU ARE UNABLE TO ATTEND THE MEETING 

Meetings of the Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority are open to all 
without regard to race, sex, color, age, national origin, religion, height, weight, marital status, 
political affiliation, sexual orientation, gender identity, or disability.  The Kalamazoo County 
Brownfield Redevelopment Authority will provide necessary reasonable auxiliary aids and 
services, such as signers for the hearing impaired and audio tapes of printed materials being 
considered at the meeting, to individuals with disabilities at the meeting upon four (4) 
business days’ notice to the Kalamazoo County BRA.  Individuals with disabilities requiring 
auxiliary aids or services should contact the Kalamazoo County BRA by writing or calling: 

Macy Rose Walters 
Brownfield Redevelopment Administrator 
Kalamazoo County Government 
201 West Kalamazoo Avenue 
Kalamazoo, MI 49007      TELEPHONE:  (269) 384-8305 

DRAFT

4

http://www.kalcountybrownfield.com/


KALAMAZOO COUNTY BROWNFIELD REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 

MEETING DATE: Thursday, August 8, 2024 
 PLACE OF MEETING: 201 W. Kalamazoo Ave. Kalamazoo, MI 49007 Room 207-A 
TIME:  3:00 pm  

DRAFT MINUTES 

Present: Connie Ferguson, Chad Goodwill, Jared Lutz, Jodi Milks, Monteze Morales, and 
Kenneth Peregon.  

Members Excused: Christopher Carew, David Wang, and Andrew Wenzel  

Vacancies:  0 

Kalamazoo Township:  none 

Oshtemo Township: none 

Staff: Rachael Grover, Macy Rose Walters 

Consultant:  Jeff Hawkins, Fishbeck 

Recording Secretary: Macy Rose Walters 

County Commissioners: Monteze Morales 

County Admin: none 

 Community: 5 

1. Call to Order: Chair Peregon called the meeting to order at 3:02 p.m.

2. Roll Call and Members Excused: Christopher Carew, David Wang, and Andrew
Wenzel were excused.  Commissioner Morales attended the meeting virtually in
accordance with ADA accommodations consistent with 2022 OAG 7318. Six (6) of
Nine (9) voting members were present. Jodi Milks joined the meeting at 3:15 p.m.

3. Public Comments (4 minutes each) None

4. Approval of the Agenda:

Director Lutz moved to approve the agenda as amended, Director Goodwill
seconded. None opposed, motion carried.

5. Discussion Calendar:

1. Approval of Minutes from June 13, 2024, KCBRA Committee of the Whole

Discussion ensued regarding a correction to who made a motion to approve the minutes, 
staff suggested tabling the item until the next meeting to review meeting notes.  

June 12, 2024, were be tabled until they are ready. None opposed.  

2. 234/238 EM, LLC Project Applications Part I & Part II  (Discussion)

Item 4 b

DRAFT

5



3. Project Stride, Landscape Forms, Inc.

i. Part I & Part II Applications (Discussion)

ii. Project Stride Brownfield Plan w/ 3rd Party Review & Fact Sheet
(Discussion)

Other None 

6. Closed Session None

7. Adjournment Director Lutz moved to adjourn at 3:33 p.m. Director Milks seconded,
meeting adjourned.

Committee of the Whole Meetings have been canceled indefinitely. Next KCBRA Regular 
Meeting to be held on August 22nd, 2024. 

Room 207a, County Admin Bldg 

- Or alternatively, held electronically or via teleconference.  Please see the KCBRA 
website at www.kalcountybrownfield.com for electronic meeting notice and instructions 

BOARD MEMBERS: 
PLEASE CALL 384-8305 OR EMAIL MRWALT@KALCOUNTY.COM 

IF YOU ARE UNABLE TO ATTEND THE MEETING 

Meetings of the Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority are open to all 
without regard to race, sex, color, age, national origin, religion, height, weight, marital status, 
political affiliation, sexual orientation, gender identity, or disability.  The Kalamazoo County 
Brownfield Redevelopment Authority will provide necessary reasonable auxiliary aids and 
services, such as signers for the hearing impaired and audio tapes of printed materials being 
considered at the meeting, to individuals with disabilities at the meeting upon four (4) 
business days’ notice to the Kalamazoo County BRA.  Individuals with disabilities requiring 
auxiliary aids or services should contact the Kalamazoo County BRA by writing or calling: 

Macy Rose Walters 
Brownfield Redevelopment Administrator 
Kalamazoo County Government 
201 West Kalamazoo Avenue 
Kalamazoo, MI 49007      TELEPHONE:  (269) 384-8305 DRAFT

6

http://www.kalcountybrownfield.com/


KALAMAZOO COUNTY BROWNFIELD REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 

MEETING DATE: Thursday, August 22, 2024 
 PLACE OF MEETING: 201 W. Kalamazoo Ave. Kalamazoo, MI 49007 Room 207-A 
TIME:  3:00 pm  

DRAFT - MINUTES 

Present: Christopher Carew, Chad Goodwill, Jared Lutz, Jodi Milks, Kenneth Peregon, David 
Wang, and Andrew Wenzel 

Members Excused: 2 

Vacancies:  0 

Kalamazoo Township:  Sherine Miller 

Oshtemo Township: none 

Staff: Rachael Grover, Macy Rose Walters 

Consultant:  Jeff Hawkins, Fishbeck 

Recording Secretary: Macy Rose Walters 

County Commissioners: none  

County Admin: none 

 Community: 6 

1. Call to Order: Chair Peregon called the meeting to order at 3:03 p.m.

2. Roll Call and Members Excused: Seven (7) of nine (9) voting members were present.
Director Ferguson and Commissioner Morales were excused.

3. Approval of the Agenda:

Chair Peregon asked the board to consider adding item 7biii, a Conflict Consent Waiver
from Varnum.

Director Wenzel moved to approve item 3, as amended, Director Lutz seconded. A
roll call vote was taken, the motion carried with seven (7) Yes, zero (0) No, and no
abstentions.

4. Approval of Minutes:   BRA Minutes of July 25, 2024

Discussion ensued regarding verification of the minutes saying when Director Wang had
arrived or was excused.

Director Milks moved to approve item 4 as presented, Director Carew seconded. None
opposed, motion carried.

5. Public Comments (4 minutes each)  none

Item 4 c

7



6. Consent Agenda  

a. From General Fund 

i. $1,348.00 – Fishbeck Invoice 441203 (W.O. 2024-1 Gen. Env.) 

 

b. From EPA Grant Fund  

i. $60.77 – Fishbeck Invoice 441205 (W.O.#11 Redman Ventures) 

ii. $376.98 – Fishbeck invoice 441204 (W.O.#17 Teresa’s Kitchen) 

iii. $1,698.71 – Fishbeck invoice 441202 (W.O. #2 Outreach & Programmatic) 

 

c. Project Business:  

i. Developer Reimbursements from 2023 Tax Increment Revenue 

1. $21,596.05 – KALSEE Credit Union 1st TIF Payment ($9,463.00 
State & $12,133.05 Local) 

2. $4,159.00 – 9008 Portage Road 3rd TIF Payment (local) 

3. $5,224.57 – Metal Mechanics D&D Realty 8th TIR Payment (local) 

4. $102,031.24 – General Mills 13th TIR Payment (local) 

ii. $9,250.00 – Invoice to Clarklogic for 555 Eliza Street Payment to State of  
Michigan EGLE Loan Payment Due 9/14/2024 

iii. Transfers into the Local Brownfield Revolving Fund (LBRF Fund 242)  

1. $2,036.46 – to LBRF of KALSEE 2023 State TIR 

iv. MEDC Annual Report – Authorize Submittal to MEDC by 8/31/2024 

 
Director Lutz moved to approve Item 6, the Consent Agenda, Director Milks 
seconded. None opposed, motion carried. 
 

7. Discussion and/or Action Calendar  

a. Action: 234/238 EM, LLC 

i. Part I & Part II Project Applications 

Director Lutz stated their conflict of interest due their employer who is Michigan Growth 
Advisors, an organization employed by the developer. Director Wang abstained from 
discussion, too, as Michigan Growth Advisors is a subsidiary of Director Wang’s employer, 
Miller Johnson.  

Director Wenzel moved to approve item 7ai, waiving the application fee, noting this 
is for a first-time developer, and Director Carew seconded. A roll call vote was taken, 
the motion carried with five (5) Yes, zero (0) No, with Director Wang and Director 
Lutz abstaining.  

 

ii. EPA Grant Work Order #19 234/238 EM, LLC 

Director Wenzel moved to approve item 7aii as presented, Director Milks seconded. 
A roll call vote was taken, the motion carried with five (5) Yes, zero (0) No, and 
Director Wang and Director Lutz abstained.  

 

8



b. Action: Landscape Forms, Inc.  

i. Project Applications Part I and Part II 

Director Lutz and Director Wang both disclosed their conflict-of-interest and abstained from 
discussion, as Michigan Growth Advisors is employed by the developer. Discussion 
ensued regarding the Kalamazoo County Land Bank’s involvement in the project, and 
Kalamazoo County’s (KCBOC) participation in paying the fee for the assistance to the Land 
Bank. There was discussion regarding the need for an updated application packet by the 
developer describing the addition of parcels in the draft application.  

Director Wenzel moved the approve item 7bi, contingent upon receipt of updated 
Project Applications Part I & Part II, as well as payment of the KCBRA’s application 
fee of $2,500. Director Milks seconded. A roll call vote was taken, the motion carried 
with five (5) Yes, zero (0) No, and Director Lutz and Director Wang abstained.   

 

ii. Brownfield Plan 

Director Milks moved to approve item 7bii as presented, Director Wenzel seconded. 
A roll call vote was taken, the motion carried with five (5) Yes, zero (0) No, and 
Director Lutz and Director Wang abstained.   

 

iii. Varnum Conflict of Interest Consent Waiver 

Discussion ensued regarding the KCBRA’s legal counsel being employed by the 
developer, and the possible need for consideration of secondary counsel if there is a 
conflict during the preparation of the Development Agreement between the KCBRA and 
the developer. The KCBRA may consider asking the developer to pursue different counsel 
if there is an unresolvable conflict during the drafting phase of the agreement. 

Director Carew moved to approve item 7aiii, authorizing the Chair to sign the item, 
with the understanding that the KCBRA or developer may seek alternative legal 
counsel if deemed necessary, Director Goodwill seconded. A roll call vote was 
taken, the motion carried with four (4) Yes, one (1) No, and Director Lutz abstained.  

 
 

c. Discussion/Action: Fishbeck 

i. General Environmental Memo & Billing Summary 

ii. EPA Grant Memo & Billing Summary 

iii. Draft Contract Extension Request for EPA Assessment Grant 

Director Wang moved to approve item 7ciii, authorizing staff to submit the EPA grant 
extension, contingent upon the item being reformatted into the EPA’s preferred 
template and on KCBRA letter head. Director Lutz seconded, none opposed, motion 
carried. 

 

d. Discussion/Action: The Stryker Brownfield Plan (Capture Complete) 

i. City of Portage Invoice Packet Eligible Expenses $437,645.20 

ii. $437,645.20 – City of Portage Full TIR Payment  

     ($220,792 State & $216,853.20 Local) 

iii. $245,614.16 – Transfer to LBRF of Stryker 2023 Local TIR 

9



iv. $370,905.67 – Return of Stryker 2021 State TIR  

        ($92,726.42 SET & $278,179.25 School Operating)  

v. $680,041.68 – Return of Stryker 2023 Local TIR to Taxing Jurisdictions 

Director Lutz moved to approve all items from 7di-7dv, as presented, Director 
Wenzel seconded, none opposed, motion carried.  

 

8. Financial Reports Staff presented financial reports. 
 

a. Discussion: KCBRA General Fund 243 Report  

b. Discussion: KCBRA Local Brownfield Revolving Fund 242 Report  

9. Staff Report/Updates  Staff Presented Updates 
a. Landscape Forms, Inc. Development Agreement Draft Pending 
b. BRA Staff attended Schupan Ribbon Cutting on 8/5/2024 (Midlink Amendment #4) 
c. BRA Staff attended EGLE’s Clean Energy Projects & Manufacturing Webinar 
d. BRA Staff attended Viewing Resilience Planning Through an Equity Lens Webinar 

 
10. Other Planning Director Grover announced that a member of the Planning Department 

was asked to join the South Drake Road Corridor Improvement Authority (SoDA) 
Board of Directors, she recommended BRA staff member Administrator Walters. The 
Kalamazoo County Board of Commissioners appointed Administrator Walters at their 
August 20, 2024 Regular Meeting. 

11. Board Member Comments None 

12. Adjournment Director Wenzel moved to adjourn at 4:37 p.m. Milks seconded, none 
opposed, motion carried. 

Next Regular Meeting: Thursday, September 26, 2024, at 3:00 p.m.  

Room 207a, County Admin Bldg - Or alternatively, held electronically or via 
teleconference.  Please see the KCBRA website at www.kalcountybrownfield.com for 

electronic meeting notice and instructions 

BOARD MEMBERS: 
PLEASE CALL 384-8305 OR EMAIL MRWALT@KALCOUNTY.COM  

IF YOU ARE UNABLE TO ATTEND THE MEETING 

Meetings of the Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority are open to all 
without regard to race, sex, color, age, national origin, religion, height, weight, marital status, 
political affiliation, sexual orientation, gender identity, or disability.  The Kalamazoo County 
Brownfield Redevelopment Authority will provide necessary reasonable auxiliary aids and 
services, such as signers for the hearing impaired and audio tapes of printed materials being 
considered at the meeting, to individuals with disabilities at the meeting upon four (4) 
business days’ notice to the Kalamazoo County BRA.  Individuals with disabilities requiring 
auxiliary aids or services should contact the Kalamazoo County BRA by writing or calling: 

 Macy Rose Walters 
 Brownfield Redevelopment Administrator 
 Kalamazoo County Government 
 201 West Kalamazoo Avenue 
 Kalamazoo, MI 49007      TELEPHONE:  (269) 384-8305 

10

http://www.kalcountybrownfield.com/


WO #2024-1

For Professional Services Rendered Through 8/30/2024

Current Billings 2,297.75
Amount Due This Bill 2,297.75

Billings
Fee Available To Date Previous Current

GR 2024 - General Review 2024 14,000.00 6,477.50 9,547.25 7,522.50 2,024.75
Rate Labor 2,024.75

CAS 2024 - Contractual Administrative 
Support 2024

6,000.00 5,790.00 483.00 210.00 273.00

Rate Labor 262.50
Unit Rate Expense 10.50

Total Fee : 20,000.00
To Date Billings : 10,030.25
Total Remaining : 9,969.75

Attention: Macy Walters
Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment 
Authority
201 West Kalamazoo Avenue
Kalamazoo, MI 49008
United States

Invoice : 442374
Invoice Date : 9/12/2024

Project : 230454
Project Name : KCBRA/W.O. 2023-1 Gen 

Environmental Review
Bill Term : BT2

Item 6 a i 

11



Project:   230454 - KCBRA/W.O. 2023-1 Gen Environmental Review Invoice:   442374
GR 2024 - General Review 2024
Rate Labor
Class / Employee Date Hours Rate Amount
Senior Environmental Specialist

David Stegink 8/2/2024 0.25 140.0000 35.00
Project Stride Communications

8/5/2024 0.25 140.0000 35.00
Project Stride Communications

8/6/2024 0.50 140.0000 70.00
review Project Stride Draft BF Plan

8/9/2024 0.50 140.0000 70.00
changes to BF Plan communications

8/15/2024 1.50 140.0000 210.00
review LFI BF Plan, communications, call w JA

8/19/2024 1.00 140.0000 140.00
revised LFI BF Plan

8/20/2024 1.25 140.0000 175.00
update fact sheet and memo, communications w K Brauer, communications w KCBRA

Total David Stegink 5.25 735.00
Trudy Galla 8/1/2024 0.50 162.0000 81.00

Emails, review TIF memo, phone call.
Total Senior Environmental Specialist 5.75 816.00

Senior Hydrogeologist
Jeffrey Hawkins 8/8/2024 1.00 150.0000 150.00

attended KCBRA COW meeting
8/12/2024 0.25 150.0000 37.50

briefly reviewed MI Growth Advisor's latest LFI BF Plan
Total Jeffrey Hawkins 1.25 187.50

Total Senior Hydrogeologist 1.25 187.50
Staff Environmental Specialist

Logan Mulholland 8/1/2024 1.50 85.0000 127.50
Review documentation and communications with Grant on City of Portage Reimbursement 
Request, edits to memo

8/2/2024 0.25 90.0000 22.50
Edits to city of portage memo

8/5/2024 1.00 85.0000 85.00
Edit and finalize City of Portage reimbursement request, review MEDC approval letter and respond 
to Macy's email

8/7/2024 1.75 85.0000 148.75
Review Stryker TIF, email response

8/12/2024 0.25 85.0000 21.25
Styrker TIF Communications

8/13/2024 2.50 85.0000 212.50
Review IPUSA TIF, call with Macy, email responses

8/15/2024 1.50 85.0000 127.50
Review Kalsee TIF analysis and respond to Macy

8/16/2024 0.25 90.0000 22.50
Follow up on delta marriott project

8/21/2024 1.00 85.0000 85.00
Prep for meeting with TMS, email City of Portage documentation to Macy

8/23/2024 0.25 85.0000 21.25
Call with TMS

8/30/2024 0.50 85.0000 42.50
review Stryker return

Total Logan Mulholland 10.75 916.25

Page:  112



Project:   230454 - KCBRA/W.O. 2023-1 Gen Environmental Review Invoice:   442374
GR 2024 - General Review 2024
Rate Labor
Class / Employee Date Hours Rate Amount

Total Staff Environmental Specialist 10.75 916.25
Technician

Michelle Bell 8/1/2024 1.00 70.0000 70.00
Figures for City of Portage reimbursement

8/2/2024 0.50 70.0000 35.00
changes to drawing RE:City of Portage

Total Michelle Bell 1.50 105.00
Total Technician 1.50 105.00

Total Rate Labor 2,024.75
Total Bill Task: GR 2024 - General Review 2024 2,024.75

CAS 2024 - Contractual Administrative Support 2024
Rate Labor
Class / Employee Date Hours Rate Amount
Senior Geologist

Therese Searles 8/8/2024 2.50 105.0000 262.50
KCLBA meeting attendance

Total Rate Labor 262.50
Unit Rate Expenses
Account / Unit Quantity Rate Amount
Mileage
Mileage - Employee Vehicle 15.00 0.7000 10.50

Total Unit Rate Expenses 10.50
Total Bill Task: CAS 2024 - Contractual Administrative Support 2024 273.00

Total Project:   230454 - KCBRA/W.O. 2023-1 Gen Environmental Review 2,297.75

Page:  213



For Professional Services Rendered Through 8/30/2024

WO #12

Current Billings 764.79
Amount Due This Bill 764.79

Billings
Fee Available To Date Previous Current

231419 - KCBRA/Legacy Senior Living, 730 
N. Burdick St. Kalamazoo

RAP - Response Activity Plan /Conceptual 
Site Model

7,599.68 0.00 7,599.68 7,599.68 0.00

Clean - Brownfield Cleanup Planning 5,000.00 796.36 4,968.43 4,203.64 764.79
Rate Labor 764.79

Contract : MIDeal
Contract Name : MIDeal Contracts

Total Fee : 12,599.68
To Date Billings : 12,568.11
Total Remaining : 31.57

Attention: Macy Walters
Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment 
Authority
201 West Kalamazoo Avenue
Kalamazoo, MI 49008
United States

Invoice : 442376
Invoice Date : 9/12/2024

Project : 231419
Project Name : KCBRA/Legacy Senior Living, 730 N. 

Burdick St. Kalamazoo
Bill Term : BT1

Item 6 b i

14



Project:   231419 - KCBRA/Legacy Senior Living, 730 N. Burdick St. Kalamazoo Invoice:   442376
Clean - Brownfield Cleanup Planning
Rate Labor
Class / Employee Date Hours Rate Amount
Senior Engineer

Alisa Lindsay 8/26/2024 0.50 169.9500 84.98
Discuss overall proj status and client timeline w/ EP

8/27/2024 1.50 169.9500 254.93
Corres. EGLE re: additional MSHDA req's (not w/in EGLE SOW), mtg. coord

8/29/2024 1.50 169.9500 254.93
Emails and internal disc. re: add'l ResAP 7a req, coord ResAP prep, coord mtgs. w/ EGLE and 
MSHDA

Total Alisa Lindsay 3.50 594.84
Total Senior Engineer 3.50 594.84

Senior Hydrogeologist
Erik Peterson 7/19/2024 0.75 135.9600 101.97

Correspondence with
8/12/2024 0.50 135.9600 67.98

Discuss landscape timing versus parcel split timing w/ Mr. Bogan and DDCC/IM&M language
Total Erik Peterson 1.25 169.95

Total Senior Hydrogeologist 1.25 169.95
Total Rate Labor 764.79

Total Bill Task: Clean - Brownfield Cleanup Planning 764.79

Total Project:   231419 - KCBRA/Legacy Senior Living, 730 N. Burdick St. Kalamazoo 764.79

Page:  115



For Professional Services Rendered Through 8/30/2024

Current Billings 1,950.31
Amount Due This Bill 1,950.31

Billings
Fee Available To Date Previous Current

Elg / PH 1 - Eligibility and Phase I ESA 3,000.00 0.00 3,000.00 3,000.00 0.00
HM Inspect - Hazardous Materials Inspection 4,765.00 4,765.00 450.63 0.00 450.63

Rate Labor 450.63
PH 2 - Phase II ESA 12,250.00 11,873.02 1,876.66 376.98 1,499.68

Rate Labor 1,499.68
BEA - BEA /Due Care 5,000.00 5,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Contract : MIDeal
Contract Name : MIDeal Contracts

Attention: Macy Walters
Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment 
Authority
201 West Kalamazoo Avenue
Kalamazoo, MI 49008
United States

Invoice : 442365
Invoice Date : 9/12/2024

Project : 240812
Project Name : KCBRA/WO 17 - 1222 S, Burdick, 

Kalamazoo
Bill Term : BT1

Item 6 b ii

16



Project:   240812 - KCBRA/WO 17 - 1222 S, Burdick, Kalamazoo Invoice:   442365
HM Inspect - Hazardous Materials Inspection
Rate Labor
Class Hours Rate Amount

Production Support 1.00 86.5200 86.52
Senior Geologist 1.75 121.5400 212.70
Staff Environmental Specialist 1.75 86.5200 151.41

Total Rate Labor 450.63
Total Bill Task: HM Inspect - Hazardous Materials Inspection 450.63

PH 2 - Phase II ESA
Rate Labor
Class Hours Rate Amount

Senior Environmental Specialist 10.00 125.6600 1,256.60
Senior Geologist 2.00 121.5400 243.08

Total Rate Labor 1,499.68
Total Bill Task: PH 2 - Phase II ESA 1,499.68

Total Project:   240812 - KCBRA/WO 17 - 1222 S, Burdick, Kalamazoo 1,950.31

Page:  117



For Professional Services Rendered Through 8/30/2024

Current Billings 2,502.61
Amount Due This Bill 2,502.61

Billings
Fee Available To Date Previous Current

PH I - Eligibility and Phase I ESA 3,000.00 3,000.00 1,763.58 0.00 1,763.58
Rate Labor 1,488.58
Expenses 275.00

PH 2 - Phase II 18,495.00 18,495.00 436.72 0.00 436.72
Rate Labor 436.72

BEA - BEA/Due Care 5,000.00 5,000.00 82.40 0.00 82.40
Rate Labor 82.40

BF Plan - Brownfield Plan 8,000.00 8,000.00 219.91 0.00 219.91
Rate Labor 219.91

Contract : MIDeal
Contract Name : MIDeal Contracts

Attention: Macy Walters
Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment 
Authority
201 West Kalamazoo Avenue
Kalamazoo, MI 49008
United States

Invoice : 442368
Invoice Date : 9/12/2024

Project : 241171
Project Name : KCBRA/WO 18-J. Smith Apts-802 

N. Westnedge, 438 & 442 W. Frank, 
Kalamazoo

Bill Term : BT1

Item 6 b iii

18



Project:   241171 - KCBRA/WO 18-J. Smith Apts-802 N. Westnedge, 438 & 442 W. Frank, Kalamazoo Invoice:   442368
PH I - Eligibility and Phase I ESA
Rate Labor
Class Hours Rate Amount

Production Support 0.25 86.5200 21.63
Senior Geologist 0.25 121.5400 30.39
Senior Hydrogeologist 2.25 135.9600 305.91
Staff Engineering Specialist 0.25 73.0000 18.25
Staff Environmental Specialist 13.50 82.4000 1,112.40

Total Rate Labor 1,488.58
Expenses
Account / Vendor Cost Multiplier Amount
Subconsultant

ERIS Information Inc 275.00 1.00 275.00
Total Expenses 275.00

Total Bill Task: PH I - Eligibility and Phase I ESA 1,763.58

PH 2 - Phase II
Rate Labor
Class Hours Rate Amount

Senior Hydrogeologist 2.00 135.9600 271.92
Staff Environmental Specialist 2.00 82.4000 164.80

Total Rate Labor 436.72
Total Bill Task: PH 2 - Phase II 436.72

BEA - BEA/Due Care
Rate Labor
Class Hours Rate Amount

Staff Environmental Specialist 1.00 82.4000 82.40
Total Rate Labor 82.40

BF Plan - Brownfield Plan
Rate Labor
Class Hours Rate Amount

Senior Geologist 1.25 121.5400 151.93
Senior Hydrogeologist 0.50 135.9600 67.98

Total Rate Labor 219.91
Total Bill Task: BF Plan - Brownfield Plan 219.91

Total Project:   241171 - KCBRA/WO 18-J. Smith Apts-802 N. Westnedge, 438 & 442 W. Frank, Kalamazoo 2,502.61

Page:  119



For Professional Services Rendered Through 8/30/2024

Current Billings 734.83
Amount Due This Bill 734.83

Billings
Fee Available To Date Previous Current

E210229 - KCBRA/FY21 EPA Assessment 
Grant -W.O. 2 Community Outreach and 
Programmatic

13,300.00 1,919.29 12,115.54 11,380.71 734.83

Rate Labor 734.83

Contract : MIDeal
Contract Name : MIDeal Contracts

Attention: Macy Walters
Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment 
Authority
201 West Kalamazoo Avenue
Kalamazoo, MI 49008
United States

Invoice : 442361
Invoice Date : 9/12/2024

Project : E210229
Project Name : KCBRA/FY21 EPA Assessment Grant 

-W.O. 2 Community Outreach and 
Programmatic

Bill Term : BT1

Item 6 b iv

20



Project:   E210229 - KCBRA/FY21 EPA Assessment Grant -W.O. 2 Community Outreach and Programmatic Invoice:   442361
COMM - Community Outreach & Programmatic
Rate Labor
Class / Employee Hours Rate Amount
Senior Geologist

Therese Searles 7.50 95.5000 716.25
Staff Environmental Specialist

Logan Mulholland 0.25 74.3000 18.58
Total Rate Labor 734.83

Total Bill Task: COMM - Community Outreach & Programmatic 734.83

Total Project:   E210229 - KCBRA/FY21 EPA Assessment Grant -W.O. 2 Community Outreach and 
Programmatic

734.83

Page:  121



KCBRA State Local Total

Expenditures Estimate Invoiced

   Phase I 2,300.00$                6,209.06$                 ‐$ 6,209.06$            
   Phase II ‐$   330.44$ ‐$ 330.44$               
   BEA/Due Care Plan 2,700.00$                351.25$ ‐$ 351.25$               
   Brownfield Plan 2,500.00$                1,428.75$             1,428.75$            
   Act 381 Work Plan 2,500.00$                1,497.13$             1,497.13$            
Act 381 Work Plan ‐ 12/10/14 210.00$                210.00$               

263.75$                263.75$               
Documentation of Due Care 12/17/15 45.13$ 3,139.87$             3,185.00$            

Administrative ‐$
   2013 BRA Operating Expenses ‐$ 3,132.12$             3,132.12$            
2014 BRA Operating Expenses 162.61$                162.61$               
2015 BRA Admin. Expenses 141.85$                141.85$               
2016 BRA Admin. Expenses 87.06$                  87.06$                 
2017 BRA Admin Expenses 5/24/2018 97.77$                  97.77$                 
2018 BRA Admin Expenses 3/28/2019 122.70$                122.70$               
2019 BRA Admin. Expenses 2/27/2020 77.34$                  77.34$                 
2020 BRA Admin. Expenses 2/26/2021 68.22$                  68.22$                 

2021 BRA Admin. Expenses 12/31/2021 127.77$                 127.77$                

2022 BRA Admin. Expenses 12/31/2022 167.87$                 167.87$                

2023 BRA Admin Expenses 12/31/2023 252.79$                 252.79$                
Subtotal KCBRA 9,816.63$   6,935.88$                10,977.60$          17,913.48$         

Payments Approved Distributed
    KCBRA Sept 2014 617.89$ 601.54$                1,219.43$            
KCBRA 12/31/2015 81.67$                  81.67$                 
KCBRA 12/31/2015 505.09$ 597.94$                1,103.03$            
KCBRA 12/15/2016 501.52$ 67.54$                  569.06$               
KCBRA 12/15/2016 612.15$                612.15$               
KCBRA 12/22/2017 570.58$ 760.54$                1,331.12$            
KCBRA  2018 601.00$ 846.00$                1,447.00$            
KCBRA 2019 860.24$ 1,231.65$             2,091.89$            
KCBRA  2020 1,269.73$                 2,488.29$             3,758.02$            
KCBRA   4/28/22 2,009.83$   3,269.62$             5,279.45$            
KCBRA 3/23/2023 167.87$                167.87$               
KCBRA 3/28/2024 252.79$                252.79$               

Subtotal KCBRA 6,935.88$                 10,977.60$           17,913.48$          

Remaining Balances after Payments

Subtotal KCBRA ‐$   ‐$   ‐$  

State Brownfield Fund

State of Michigan Payment (2015 SET) 10/23/2016 72.00$   72.00$                  

State of Michigan Payment (2016 SET) 10/3/2017 71.50$   71.50$                  

State of Michigan Payment (2017 SET) 12/3/2018 81.00$   81.00$                   

State of Michigan Payment (2018 SET 3 mils) 87.00$   87.00$                   

State of Michigan Payment  (2019 SET 3 mils) 125.00$   125.00$                

State of Michigan Payment (2020 SET 3 mils) 12/31/2021 266.00$   266.00$                

State of Michigan Payment (2021 SET 3 mils) 12/31/2022 379.00$   379.00$                

State of Michigan Payment (2022 SET 3 mils) 12/31/2023 392.00$   392.00$                

State of Michigan Payment (2023 SET 3 mils) pending 413.00$   413.00$                

Total 1,886.50$                 1,886.50$            

Developer  Estimated Invoiced State Local Total

Expenditures
Eligible Developer Expense
BEA activities 5000 2,800.00$                 37,450.00$           40,250.00$         

Due Care Activities 15000 ‐$ ‐$ ‐$
Non Environmental Activities 20000 ‐$ ‐$ ‐$
Act 381 Work Plan 2500 ‐$ ‐$ ‐$

‐$ ‐$ ‐$
Total ‐$ ‐$

Subtotal Developer 2,800.00$                37,450.00$          40,250.00$         

Non‐Interest Payments Approved Distributed State Local Total

1st TIF reimbursement  4/28/22 579.61$ 918.19$                1,497.80$            
2nd TIF reimbursement 8/24/23 2,220.39$                 4,006.75$             6,227.14$            

3rd TIF reimbursement 8/22/24 4,159.00$             4,159.00$            
Subtotal Developer 2,800.00$                9,083.94$            11,883.94$         
*Amount eligible by BF plan $40,250.00

Developer Remaining Balances after Payments

Subtotal Developer ‐$   28,366.06$            28,366.06$          

Total Remaining Balances of all Entities ‐$ 28,366.06$       28,366.06$      

Transfers to Local Brownfield Revolving Fund (643) State Local Total

total allowed by BF plan 5,600.00 TBD 5,600.00

1st transfer from 2022 TIR 8/24/2023 458.41 0.00 458.41

2nd transfer from 2023 TIR pending 9/26/24 2,834.64 0.00 2,834.64

Subtotal to LBRF 3,293.05 0.00 3,293.05

Total remaining to collect in Local Brownfield Revoling fund (643) 2,306.95 #VALUE! 2,306.95

Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority Reimbursement Analysis Review
Disaster Restoration Inc ‐ 9008 Portage Rd, Portage, MI 49002

September 26, 2024

 Invoiced together ‐ 

$9816.63 

Invoiced together

 = 41,939.12

Item 6 c i 1

22



Memo 
TO: Macy Walters, Brownfield Redevelopment Administrator, Kalamazoo County Brownfield 

Redevelopment Authority 

FROM: Therese Searles, Senior Brownfield Specialist and Jeff Hawkins, Vice President/Senior 
Hydrogeologist 

DATE: September 26, 2024 

RE: General/LBRF Funding Updates 

This memorandum serves to provide information regarding updates for the Kalamazoo County 
Brownfield Redevelopment Authority (KCBRA) for activities and services rendered on various projects 
related to General Funding or LBRF Projects. At the request of the KCBRA Board, these monthly 
updates will not be comprehensive; they will be condensed moving forward to only include major 
project updates. 

1. General Environmental Review
Project No: 230454 – W.O. 2023-1 and W.O. 2024-1

Update:

General Review: This month’s invoice for consideration includes an extension of services started last 
month such as reviewing the proposed Brownfield Plan for the Project Stride project and related 
communication, completing a review and preparing documentation regarding the City of Portage 
Reimbursement Request, and meeting update discussions. 

Administrative Support: KCBRA has tasked Fishbeck with attending the monthly Kalamazoo County Land 
Bank Authority (KCLBA) meetings and reporting back to the KCBRA board on key takeaways that may be 
of interest to the Brownfield Authority. Fishbeck attended the September 12th KCLBA meeting. 
Discussion was held regarding the scattered site brownfield plan and legal counsel, Kurt Brauer, 
indicated meetings were planned to go through the process of getting this Brownfield Plan approved. 
Mr. Brauer also informed the KCLBA board that KCBRA recommended the Project Stride/Landscape 
Forms Brownfield Plan for approval. A draft of the Development Agreement was presented to the board 
in their packet. Mr. Brauer indicated they were still working through the Development Agreement. The 
Land Bank will have control but not ownership of the property which will be developed by December 31, 
2027. There is a condition in the development agreement to take a lien on the property if development 
conditions are not met. Zach Bauer has been named as the new Executive Director and his first official 
day in this role will be September 23, 2024. The next KCLBA meeting is scheduled for October10, 2024.  

Item 7 a i

2. YWCA – 550 S. Riverview, Parchment, Michigan
Project No: 231417 – W.O. 2023-2

Update:

Periodic checks of the online system indicate that required pressure differential (minimum 0.02 inches
of water column) continues to be met. There is no invoice for consideration this month.

23



*Invoices Pending Approval by KCBRA Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority

General Environmental Review

Budget and Cost Summary 

9/26/2024

Page 1 of 1

230454 2023-1 General Environmental Review (2023) 14,000.00$            14,000.00$             420292 2/16/2023 $160.00

421238 3/16/2023 $315.00

423214 5/10/2023 $2,147.75

424170 6/8/2023 $2,226.61

425333 7/12/2023 $2,294.95

426213 8/7/2023 $806.25

427541 9/7/2023 $1,420.00

429022 10/9/2023 $963.75

429750 11/2/2023 $652.50

431430 12/7/2023 $585.00

432686 1/9/2024 $365.00

Phase Subtotal 14,000.00$            14,000.00$             $11,936.81 $2,063.19

Contractual Administrative (2023) 6,000.00$              6,000.00$               421238 3/16/2023 $315.00

423214 5/10/2023 $288.75

432686 1/9/2024 $679.50

Phase Subtotal 6,000.00$              6,000.00$               $1,283.25 $4,716.75

2023 Project Total $20,000.00 $20,000.00 $13,220.06 $6,779.94

230454 2024-1 General Environmental Review (2024) 14,000.00$            14,000.00$             433684 2/13/2024 $1,142.50

434692 3/12/2021 $627.50

435834 4/10/2024 $1,120.00

436931 5/13/2024 $922.50

438958 6/18/2024 $1,772.00

439225 7/9/2024 $800.00

441203 8/13/2024 $1,138.00

442374* 9/12/2024 $2,024.75

Phase Subtotal 14,000.00$            14,000.00$             $9,547.25 $4,452.75

Contractual Administrative (2024) 6,000.00$              6,000.00$               

441203 8/13/2024 $210.00

442374* 9/12/2024 $273.00

Phase Subtotal 6,000.00$              6,000.00$               $483.00 $5,517.00

2024 Project Total 20,000.00$            20,000.00$             $10,030.25 $9,969.75

190048 2019-2 Paper City Development - EGLE Grant Oversight

W.O. Approved   

Total Approved budget of $3,000.00 3,000.00$              3,000.00$               05421 4/18/2019 $2,642.50 $10,565.50 $10,565.50

Amendment #1 - $5,000.00 5,000.00$              5,000.00$               05490 5/10/2019 $140.00 $10,425.50 $10,425.50

Amendment #2 - $5,000.00 5,000.00$              5,000.00$               05603 6/14/2019 $1,662.50 $8,763.00 $8,763.00

Contingency Amendment #3- $6,500 6,500.00$              6,500.00$               05665 7/16/2019 $1,110.00 $7,653.00 $7,653.00

Budget adjustment to bring approved budget current 5-19-23 (6,292.00)$             (6,292.00)$              05723 8/14/2019 $788.75 $6,864.25 $6,864.25

Project Subtotal 13,208.00$            13,208.00$             05787 9/6/2019 $35.00 $6,829.25 $6,829.25

06215 1/7/2020 $26.25 $6,803.00 $6,803.00

06329 2/7/2020 $131.25 $6,671.75 $6,671.75

06442 3/19/2020 $210.00 $6,461.75 $6,461.75

06579 5/12/2020 $113.75 $6,348.00 $6,348.00

06655 6/17/2020 $52.50 $6,295.50 $6,295.50

06714 7/9/2020 $105.00 $6,190.50 $6,190.50

 06808 8/11/2020 $78.75 $6,111.75 $6,111.75

06895 9/8/2020 $52.50 $6,059.25 $6,059.25

06994 10/12/2020 $446.25 $5,613.00 $5,613.00

07086 11/5/2020 $551.25 $5,061.75 $5,061.75

07163 12/7/2020 $183.75 $4,878.00 $4,878.00

07282 1/14/2021 $645.73 $4,232.27 $4,232.27

07465 3/9/2021 $446.25 $3,786.02 $3,786.02

07514 4/8/2021 $301.77 $3,484.25 $3,484.25

07669 5/21/2021 $402.50 $3,081.75 $3,081.75

07764 6/16/2021 $26.25 $3,055.50 $3,055.50

07955 8/9/2021 $78.75 $2,976.75 $2,976.75

08127 10/6/2021 $26.25 $2,950.50 $2,950.50

08659 2/18/2022 $52.50 $2,898.00 $2,898.00

08768 3/10/2022 $26.25 $2,871.75 $2,871.75

08840 4/8/2022 $262.50 $2,609.25 $2,609.25

08975 5/10/2022 $172.50 $2,436.75 $2,436.75

09125 6/13/2022 $28.75 $2,408.00 $2,408.00

09390 8/18/2022 $57.50 $2,350.50 $2,350.50

09618 10/12/2022 $86.25 $2,264.25 $2,264.25

09744 11/9/2022 $373.75 $1,890.50 $1,890.50

09856 12/12/2022 $230.00 $1,660.50 $1,660.50

421239 3/16/2023 $28.75 $1,631.75 $1,631.75

423213 5/10/2023 $86.25 $1,545.50 $1,545.50

424171 6/8/2023 $1,437.50 $108.00 $108.00

Project Subtotal $13,100.00 $108.00

Number  Budget Estimates  Actual 

Project W.O. Site/Phase Total County Funding Invoice # Invoice Date Invoice Amount
Task Budget 

Remaining

Total Budget 

Remaining

24



*Invoices Pending Approval by KCBRA Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority

General Environmental Review

Budget and Cost Summary 

9/26/2024

Page 1 of 1

Number  Budget Estimates  Actual 

Project W.O. Site/Phase Total County Funding Invoice # Invoice Date Invoice Amount
Task Budget 

Remaining

Total Budget 

Remaining

190148 2019-4 Paper City Development LLC, Vicksburg, Michigan - EGLE Loan Oversight 05789 9/6/2019 $1,470.00 $38,530.00 $38,530.00

W.O. Approved 40,000.00$            $40,000.00 05896 10/7/2019 $787.50 $37,742.50 $37,742.50

05994 11/7/2019 $1,242.50 $36,500.00 $36,500.00

06128 12/9/2019 $280.00 $36,220.00 $36,220.00

06214 1/7/2020 $105.00 $36,115.00 $36,115.00

'06330 2/7/2020 $385.00 $35,730.00 $35,730.00

06441 3/19/2020 $840.00 $34,890.00 $34,890.00

06516 4/8/2020 $271.25 $34,618.75 $34,618.75

06580 5/12/2020 $840.00 $33,778.75 $33,778.75

06656 6/17/2020 $236.25 $33,542.50 $33,542.50

06713 7/9/2020 $130.00 $33,412.50 $33,412.50

06809 8/11/2020 $78.75 $33,333.75 $33,333.75

06896 9/8/2020 $315.00 $33,018.75 $33,018.75

06982 10/12/2020 $297.50 $32,721.25 $32,721.25

07042 11/5/2020 $52.50 $32,668.75 $32,668.75

07162 12/7/202 $78.75 $32,590.00 $32,590.00

07346 2/5/2021 $52.50 $32,537.50 $32,537.50

07464 3/9/2021 $262.50 $32,275.00 $32,275.00

07515 4/8/2021 $35.00 $32,240.00 $32,240.00

07670 5/21/2021 $700.00 $31,540.00 $31,540.00

07956 8/9/2021 $131.25 $31,408.75 $31,408.75

08051 9/14/2021 $26.25 $31,382.50 $31,382.50

08355 12/7/2021 $210.00 $31,172.50 $31,172.50

08767 3/10/2022 $288.75 $30,883.75 $30,883.75

08839 4/8/2022 $393.75 $30,490.00 $30,490.00

08976 5/10/2022 $28.75 $30,461.25 $30,461.25

09126 6/13/2022 $86.25 $30,375.00 $30,375.00

422268 4/17/2023 $28.75 $30,346.25 $30,346.25

Project Subtotal $9,653.75 $30,346.25

08138 10/6/2021 $11,504.97 $9,495.03 $9,495.03

210178 2021-2 3800 Wynn Road, Kalamazoo Twp. 21,000.00$            21,000.00$             08253 11/4/2021 $308.51 $9,186.52 $9,186.52

08357 12/7/2021 $1,102.50 $8,084.02 $8,084.02

08473 1/6/2022 $897.00 $7,187.02 $7,187.02

08670 2/18/2022 $130.00 $7,057.02 $7,057.02

09079 6/8/2022 $225.00 $6,832.02 $6,832.02

Project Subtoal $14,167.98 $6,832.02

Phase II ESA 15,000.00$            $15,000.00 08138 10/6/2021 $9,787.47 $5,212.53 $5,212.53

08253 11/4/2021 $262.50 $4,950.03 $4,950.03

08357 12/7/2021 $1,102.50 $3,847.53 $3,847.53

08473 1/6/2022 $897.00 $2,950.53 $2,950.53

$12,049.47 $2,950.53

BEA/Due Care 3,000.00$              $3,000.00 08138 10/6/2021 $1,717.50 $1,282.50 $1,282.50

08253 11/4/2021 $46.01 $1,236.49 $1,236.49

08670 2/18/2022 $130.00 $1,106.49 $1,106.49

09079 6/8/2022 $262.50 $843.99 $843.99

$2,156.01 $843.99

Contingency 3,000.00$              $3,000.00

$0.00 $3,000.00

231417 2023-2 YWCA, 550 S. Riverview Drive, Parchment - VMS Installation 100,000.00$          $100,000.00 434709 3/13/2024 $87,897.02 $22,102.98 $22,102.98

LBRF funding -Amendment March 2024 $10,000.00 $10,000.00 231417 4/10/2024 $1,384.65 $20,718.33 $20,718.33

439172 7/8/2024 $537.50 $20,180.83 $20,180.83

$110,000 $110,000.00 Project Subtotal $89,819.17 $20,180.83

240058 2023-3 Clarklogic Development at W. Williard Street, Kalamazoo, MI 24,000.00$            $24,000.00 433674 2/12/2024 $13,707.93

LBRF Funding 435843 4/10/2024 $10,292.07

Project Subtotoal $24,000.00 $0.00

Total Project Budgets $248,208.00 $248,208.00  Total $173,991.21 $74,216.79

25



Memo 
TO: Macy Walters, Brownfield Redevelopment Administrator, Kalamazoo County Brownfield 

Redevelopment Authority 

FROM: Therese Searles, Senior Brownfield Specialist and Jeff Hawkins, Vice President/Senior 
Hydrogeologist 

DATE: September 26, 2024 

RE: FY21 EPA Grant Updates and Invoices 

This memorandum serves to provide information regarding updates for the Kalamazoo County 
Brownfield Redevelopment Authority (KCBRA) for activities and services rendered on various projects 
related to the FY21 EPA Brownfield Assessment Grant.  

1. Community Outreach and Programmatic
Project No: E210229 -W.O. 2, Amendment No. 3 

Update: 

Preparation of meeting materials, preparation of the EPA grant extension request using the preferred EPA 
template and associated discussions, and updates to the ACRES reporting database were completed this 
month. The grant period is set to end on September 30, 2024 unless an extension is granted. The extension 
request was submitted to the USEPA for consideration by the Brownfield Redevelopment Administrator on 
September 6, 2024.  

2. Redman Ventures, LLC – 6667 Stadium Drive, Oshtemo Township
Project No: 231418 – W.O. 11

Brownfield evaluation activities have been underway. The current status is waiting on the formal pro forma be 
filled out by the developer as requested by the assessor before establishing an estimated future taxable value. It 
has been over two months since return communication has been received from Mr. Redman. It is unclear whether 
the delayed response is due to project funding concerns or uncertainty with completing the pro forma (which 
instructions and offers of assistance were provided). Brownfield staff has determined that due to the lack of 
communication and approaching grant period end, to reallocate the remaining $1,943.76 in brownfield evaluation 
funds and return them to the unencumbered grant fund budget to support other projects. A memo informing 
Redman Ventures, LLC of this decision is being sent. 

3. Legacy Senior Living – 730 N. Burdick Street, Kalamazoo, Michigan
Project No: 231419 – W.O. 12

Update: 

Item 7 a ii

26



Hollander Development Corporation (Hollander), in partnership with Mt. Zion Baptist Church of Kalamazoo, has 
been awarded low-income tax credits to develop a 70-unit multi-family apartment community for seniors in 
Kalamazoo’s Northside Neighborhood. EGLE funding has been secured for pre-investigation (preparation of HASP 
and SAP), field investigation, and reporting (Investigation report, ResAP, and DDCC). Minimal EPA grant cleanup 
planning funds have been reserved for general project planning meetings that are not covered under the EGLE 
funding. As of August 31, 2024, remaining grant budget for this task was $31.57. Brownfield staff has determined 
it makes sense to reallocate the remaining $31.57 in cleanup planning funds to the unencumbered grant fund 
budget to support other projects. Minimal expenses that may have been incurred for these discussions in 
September will be billed to the general services, contract administrative support, if applicable. No further grant 
expenses are anticipated. 

 

4. Urban Exposure Initiative – 1116 Lake Street, Kalamazoo, Michigan  
Project No: 231768 – W.O. 15 

Update:  

The KCBRA board took action in July to retain the minimal remaining budget for the brownfield evaluation and 
reallocated the $6,000 budget for preparation of the Brownfield Plan to the unencumbered grant budget to 
support other project needs. Brownfield staff has determined that due to the approaching grant period end and 
indications from the City that they are not ready to move forward with a Brownfield Plan on this project, to 
reallocate the remaining $847.80 in brownfield evaluation funds and return them to the unencumbered grant fund 
budget to support other projects. A memo informing UEI of this decision is being sent. 

 

5. Teresa’s Kitchen, 1216, 1222 and 1228 S. Burdick, Kalamazoo, Michigan  
Project No: 240812 – W.O. 17 

Update:  

The KCBRA board approved Amendment No. 1 to Work Order 17 in July to conduct Phase II ESA sampling 
activities, preparation of a Baseline Environmental Assessment (BEA) and Due Care documentation, if warranted, 
as well as completion of a pre-renovation Hazardous Materials Inspection. A Health and Safety Plan (HASP) and 
Sampling and Analysis Plan (SAP) has been prepared and submitted to the USEPA. The HASP was accepted and the 
SAP approved by the USEPA on August 27, 2024. Access authorization for sampling was also granted by the 
current property owner on August 27, 2024.  Phase II ESA sampling was conducted on September 6th and 9th and 
the HMI field work was conducted on September 16, 2024. Lab analysis is underway. 

 

6. J. Smith Laundry and Apartments, 802 N. Westnedge Ave., 438 and 442 W. Frank St., Kalamazoo, Michigan  
Project No: 241171 – W.O. 18 

Update:  

Jeremiah Smith Enterprises 2, LLC desires to acquire and develop the three undeveloped parcels, located at 802 
N. Westnedge Avenue, 438 and 442 W. Frank Street, into J. Smith Laundry and Apartments. Mr. Smith has a 
Letter of Intent in place and has site control of the property.  It is anticipated that development activities would 
commence in Spring of 2025 with an anticipated completion date of Spring 2026.  

The initial Work Order #18 was approved in June to authorize preparation of U.S. EPA eligibility, and a Phase I 
Environmental Site Assessment (ESA). Phase I ESA & Phase II ESA activities were previously completed in 2013 
based upon multiple concerns including historical automotive service operations, the presence of fill material, and 

27



adjoining properties.  Phase II ESA sampling in 2013 resulted in the identification of PNAs in soil in excess of 
current EGLE cleanup criteria.  Amendment No. 1 to Work Order 18 was approved by the KCBRA board in July to 
conduct a Phase II ESA, preparation of a BEA and Due Care documentation, and preparation of a Brownfield Plan.  
Concurrence on site eligibility from the USEPA took much longer than anticipated, but was received on August 15, 
2024. An extension request has been submitted to the USEPA to extend the grant period and timing to complete 
this project is listed for consideration in the extension request letter. The Phase I ESA is well underway. Initial 
planning of the Phase II ESA, BEA and Due Care considerations has been initiated. Meetings regarding Brownfield 
planning have occurred. In addition, Mr. Smith is working through the pro forma process with his team. 
Understanding both eligible activities, which may be informed from sampling results, and funding sources for the 
project, will be needed to draft preparation of the Brownfield Plan. If the one-year grant extension request is 
approved, there would be adequate time to work through the approved grant tasks, including the entire 
Brownfield Plan process.  

 

7. 234/238 EM, LLC, 234 and 238 East Michigan Avenue, Kalamazoo, Michigan  

Project No: 241434 – W.O. 19 

Update:  

A project application has been submitted by 234/238 EM, LLC to the Kalamazoo County Brownfield 
Redevelopment Authority (KCBRA) requesting funding support through the use of the County’s U.S. Environmental 
Protection Agency (U.S. EPA) Assessment Grant for the project located at 234 and 238 East Michigan Avenue in 
downtown Kalamazoo. 234/238 EM, LLC acquired the property in September of 2023 and desires to renovate the 
second floor of the historic downtown building to provide residential opportunities within the heart of the 
downtown business district. The building is commonly referred to as the “Heimstra Building” and is located in the 
Haymarket Historic District. The proposed renovations will preserve the historic features and will include extensive 
interior demolition on the second floor to create four (4) one-bedroom housing units and retain a commercial first-
floor tenant (Heimstra Optical).  The total project costs are anticipated to be $1,79 million with rehabilitation 
efforts commencing early 2025 with an anticipated completion date of Fall 2026. In August, the KCBRA approved 
using $3,000 of grant funds to complete obtaining U.S. EPA eligibility and a Phase I Environmental Site Assessment 
(ESA). Eligibility concurrence was received on September 11, 2024.The Phase I ESA is underway and has been 
prioritized to finish by September 30, 2024 if the grant extension is not approved. It was anticipated that 
additional assessment scopes of work were needed to support the project. 234/238 EM, LLC is also requesting 
completion of an asbestos survey if sufficient EPA grant funds remain. Work Order 19, Amendment No. 1 has been 
prepared for the Board’s consideration this month. 

 

 

Additional Note: At time of preparation of this memo, $3,042.74 has been reallocated per Brownfield 
Redevelopment Administrator direction (as described in this memo) and returned to the unencumbered grant 
budget, which brings that remaining total to $3,045.44.  

 

  

28



Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority

U.S. EPA Brownfield Assessment Grant

Budget and Cost Summary

9/26/2024 
Page 1 of 5

Activity  Budget Estimates 

Project W.O. Site/Phase Total Invoice No. Invoice Date Total Invoiced Amount
Initial Grant Award 300,000.00$           

Task 1 - Phase I ESAs 45,000.00$             23,537.28$                        $         21,462.72 

Task 2 - Phase II ESAs and BEA/DC 204,000.00$           129,614.89$                       $         74,385.11 
Task 3 - Brownfield Plans 36,000.00$             64,619.68$                        $       (28,619.68)

Task 4 - Community Outrach, Programmatic, Travel 15,000.00$             17,113.10$                        $         (2,113.10)
234,884.95$                       $         65,115.05 

County 4 Personnel 1,200.00$               -$                                  
County 4 Travel 6,000.00$               KCBRA Travel 4,997.56$                         1,002.44$           
County 4 Supplies 1,500.00$               -$                                  
County 4 Other -$                        -$                                  

County Subtotal 8,700.00$               County Subtotal 4,997.56$                         County Subtotal

Contractual - Envirologic Technologies, Inc. 291,300.00$           -$                                  -$                    

210220 1 2 QAPP Preparation 5,000.00$               Invoice Total 08272 11/10/2021 118.50$                             
08354 12/7/2021 1,440.75$                         
08471 1/6/2022 444.75$                            
435839 4/10/2024 237.54$                            
436942 5/13/2024 59.39$                              
438963 6/18/2024 190.40$                            
439230 7/9/2024 108.67$                            

Project Subtotal 2,600.00$                         Project Subtotal 2,600.00$           
Budget Returned 2,400.00$           

-$                    
Invoice Breakdown

1 2 Initial Preparation 2,004.00$               
08272 11/10/2021 118.50$                            
08354 12/7/2021 1,440.75$                         
08471 1/6/2022 444.75$                            

Phase Subtotal 2,004.00$                         Phase Subtotal -$                    

210220 1 2 QAPP - ANNUAL UPDATES 596.00$                  Invoice Total 435839 4/10/2024 237.54$                            
436942 5/13/2024 59.39$                              
438963 6/18/2024 190.40$                            

Invoice Total 439230 7/9/2024 108.67$                            
Project Subtotal 596.00$                            Phase Subtotal -$                    

210229 2 4 Community Outreach and Programmatic 2,500.00$               Invoice Total 08661 2/18/2022 132.02$                             
Amendment #1 (approved 5-25-23) 2,500.00$               08841 4/8/2022 104.56$                            
Amendment #2 (approved 11-16-23) 4,300.00$               08977 5/10/2022 359.38$                            
Amendment #3 4,000.00$               09127 6/13/2022 341.14$                            

13,300.00$             09389 8/18/2022 209.13$                            
09619 10/12/2022 41.83$                              
09745 11/9/2022 352.93$                            
09857 12/12/2022 345.06$                            
09921 1/5/2023 73.20$                              
420295 2/16/2023 189.15$                            
421240 3/16/2023 66.05$                              
423211 5/10/2023 625.56$                            
424176 6/8/2023 334.25$                            
425337 7/12/2023 286.50$                            
426222 8/7/2023 1,093.13$                         
427546 9/7/2023 334.25$                            
429749 11/2/2023 1,024.11$                         
431429 12/7/2023 209.58$                            
432665 1/8/2024 334.25$                            
433683 2/13/2024 801.25$                            
434691 3/12/2024 382.00$                            
435833 4/10/2024 286.50$                            
436929 5/13/2024 1,053.23$                         
438957 6/18/2024 320.94$                            
439223 7/9/2024 382.00$                            

Invoice Total 441202 8/13/2024 1,698.71$                         
Invoice Total 442361* 9/12/2024 734.83$                            

Project Subtotal 12,115.54$                       Project Subtotal 1,184.46$           

210265 3 2 1001 2nd Street, Kalamazoo 17,695.01$             Invoice Total 08771 3/14/2022 10,823.90$                       
08842 4/8/2022 3,021.18$                         
08978 5/10/2022 156.15$                            

09513 9/16/2022 1,016.80$                         
Project Subtotal 15,018.03$                       Project Subtotal 2,676.98$           

Budget Returned 2,676.98$           
Budget Remaining -$                    

Invoice Breakdown
 2 Phase II 12,895.00$             08771 3/14/2022 10,823.90$                        

  08842 4/8/2022 1,489.25$                          

Phase Subtotal 12,313.15$                       Phase Subtotal 581.85$              

   

  2 BEA & Due Care 4,000.00$               08842 4/8/2022 1,531.93$                          

08978 5/10/2022 156.15$                            

09513 9/16/2022 216.80$                            

Phase Subtotal 1,904.88$                         Phase Subtotal 2,095.12$           

1 Phase I ESA Update 800.00$                  09513 9/16/2022 800.00$                            

Phase Subtotal 800.00$                            Phase Subtotal -$                    

220128 5 2 NACD - Ransom and North St. 52,850.00$             Invoice Total 09243 7/12/2022 614.29$                             
09296 8/4/2022 12,499.46$                       
09409 9/7/2022 2,778.21$                         
09636 10/21/2022 4,152.64$                         
09663 11/3/2022 875.04$                            
09859 12/12/2022 3,599.99$                         
09924 1/5/2023 2,881.90$                         
421464 3/23/2023 25,002.47$                       

Project Subtotal 52,404.00$                       Project Subtotal 446.00$              
Budget Returned 446.00$              

Invoice Breakdown -$                    
 2 Soil Gas (447 W. North Street) & Vapor Pin (441 W. North St.) 11,000.00$              

  09243 7/12/2022 324.13$                             

09296 8/4/2022 5,677.51$                         

09409 9/7/2022 151.63$                            

09636 10/21/2022 3,480.86$                         

09663 11/3/2022 216.34$                            

Phase Subtotal 9,850.47$                         Phase Subtotal 1,149.53$           

Grant 

Task

Number

Project Complete Total 

 Actual  Project Budget Remaining 

29



Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority

U.S. EPA Brownfield Assessment Grant

Budget and Cost Summary

9/26/2024 
Page 2 of 5

   

  2 604 N. Westnedge (Phase II, UST Site Assessment) 29,350.00$              

Amendment #1 7,000.00$               09243 7/12/2022 290.16$                            

Amendment #2 5,500.00$               09296 8/4/2022 6,821.95$                         

41,850.00$             09409 9/7/2022 2,626.58$                         

09636 10/21/2022 671.78$                            

09663 11/3/2022 658.70$                            

09859 12/12/2022 3,599.99$                         

09924 1/5/2023 2,881.90$                         

421464 3/23/2023 25,002.47$                       

Phase Subtotal 42,553.53$                       Phase Subtotal (703.53)$             

220129 4 1,2 NACD - Church and Frank Street Parcels 25,000.00$             Invoice Total 09245 7/12/2022 2,597.81$                          

09295 8/4/2022 11,669.06$                       

09410 9/7/2022 1,959.60$                         

09637 10/21/2022 460.06$                            

429755 11/2/2023 71.63$                              

Project Subtotal 16,758.16$                       Project Subtotal 8,241.84$           

Budget Returned 8,241.84$           

Invoice Breakdown Budget Remaining -$                    

 1 Eligibility and Phase I ESAs 6,000.00$                

  09245 7/12/2022 2,443.58$                          

09295 8/4/2022 2,358.48$                         

09410 9/7/2022 1,959.60$                         

09637 10/21/2022 248.33$                            

Phase Subtotal 7,009.99$                         Phase Subtotal (1,009.99)$          

   

  2 GPR Surveys 19,000.00$              

09245 7/12/2022 154.23$                            

09295 8/4/2022 9,310.58$                         

09637 10/21/2022 211.73$                            

429755 11/2/2023 71.63$                              

Phase Subtotal 9,748.17$                         Phase Subtotal 9,251.83$           

220154 6 3 Parchment Mill Site 20,000.00$             Invoice Total 09391 8/22/2022 4,442.58$                          
Amendment #1 2,000.00$               09515 9/16/2022 3,183.01$                         

22,000.00$             09629 10/17/2022 1,806.40$                         
09673 11/4/2022 2,343.59$                         
09860 12/12/2022 3,865.38$                         
09922 1/5/2023 400.46$                            
420293 2/16/2023 115.95$                            
421241 3/16/2023 573.53$                            

422260 4/13/2023 945.75$                            
423212 5/10/2023 1,214.35$                         
426223 8/7/2023 3,109.00$                         

Project Subtotal 22,000.00$                       Project Subtotal -$                    

230922 7 2,3 Watershed LLC - 6667 Stadum Drive, Oshtemo Township 8,000.00$               

424169 6/8/2023 548.40$                            

Project Subtotal 548.40$                            Project Subtotal 7,451.60$           

Budget Returned 7,451.60$           

Budget Remaining -$                    

   Invoice Breakdown

2 Eligibilty and Asbestos Survey 5,000.00$               424169 6/8/2023 548.40$                            

Phase Subtotal 548.40$                            Phase Subtotal 4,451.60$           

3 Brownfield Plan Evaluation 3,000.00$               

Phase Subtotal -$                                  Phase Subtotal 3,000.00$           

230924 8 1,2,3 Comstock Charter Township, Comstock Center Redevelopment 30,000.00$             Invoice Total 424166 6/8/2023 1,696.79$                         

426125 7/19/2023 2,303.21$                         

426220 8/7/2023 597.55$                            

427544 9/7/2023 818.33$                            

429028 10/9/2023 1,322.63$                         

429757 11/2/2023 10,523.93$                       

431498 12/12/2023 1,064.25$                         

432687 1/9/2024 7,673.31$                         

Project Subtotal 26,000.00$                       Project Subtotal 4,000.00$           

Budget Returned 4,000.00$           

  Invoice Breakdown Budget Remaining -$                    

1 Eligibilty and Phase I 4,000.00$               424166 6/8/2023 1,696.79$                         

426125 7/19/2023 2,303.21$                         

Phase Subtotal 4,000.00$                         Phase Subtotal -$                    

2 Phase II 18,000.00$             426220 8/7/2023 597.55$                            

Budget Adjustment (approved 1-18-2024) 4,000.00$               427544 9/7/2023 818.33$                            

22,000.00$             429028 10/9/2023 1,322.63$                         

429757 11/2/2023 10,523.93$                       

431498 12/12/2023 1,064.25$                         

432687 1/9/2024 7,673.31$                         

Phase Subtotal 22,000.00$                       Phase Subtotal -$                    

2 Bea/Due Care 4,000.00$               

Phase Subtotal -$                                  Phase Subtotal 4,000.00$           

3 Brownfield Plan 4,000.00$               

Budget Adjustment to support expanded scope of PII (1-18-24) (4,000.00)$              

-$                        Phase Subtotal -$                                  Phase Subtotal -$                    

230914 9 3 555 Eliza Street Schoolcraft Expansion 15,000.00$             Invoice Total 424168 6/8/2023 730.55$                             

425256 7/10/2023 731.87$                            

426224 8/7/2023 1,036.37$                         

427444 9/7/2023 1,058.96$                         

429203 10/10/2023 546.65$                            

430075 11/6/2023 1,487.00$                         

431026 12/4/2023 549.45$                            

Project Subtotal 6,140.85$                         Project Subtotal 1,859.15$           

Budget Returned 1,859.15$           

Invoice Breakdown Budget Remaining -$                    

3 Brownfield Plan Evaluation 8,000.00$               424168 6/8/2023 730.55$                            

425256 7/10/2023 731.87$                            

426224 8/7/2023 1,036.37$                         

30



Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority

U.S. EPA Brownfield Assessment Grant

Budget and Cost Summary

9/26/2024 
Page 3 of 5

427444 9/7/2023 1,058.96$                         

429203 10/9/2023 546.65$                            

430075 11/6/2023 1,487.00$                         

431026 12/4/2023 549.45$                            

Phase Subtotal 6,140.85$                         Phase Subtotal -$                    

3 Brownfield Plan Amendment 7,000.00$               

Phase Subtotal -$                                  Phase Subtotal 7,000.00$           

Phase Budget Returned 7,000.00$           

Phase Budget Remaining -$                    

230923 10,14 3 Midlink Business Park Expansion 12,500.00$             Invoice Total 424164 6/8/2023 480.25$                             

426124 7/19/2023 1,525.78$                         

426219 8/7/2023 862.34$                            

427542 9/7/2023 488.16$                            

429024 10/9/2023 2,733.55$                         

429753 11/2/2023 375.49$                            

431433 12/7/2023 71.63$                              

Project Subtotal 6,537.20$                         Project Subtotal 2,819.33$           

Budget Returned 2,819.33$           

Invoice Breakdown Budget Remaining -$                    

10 3 Project Planning Associated with Plan Amendment 6,500.00$               424164 6/8/2023 480.25$                            

426124 7/19/2023 1,525.78$                         

426219 8/7/2023 862.34$                            

427542 9/7/2023 488.16$                            

Phase Subtotal 3,356.53$                         Phase Subtotal 3,143.47$           

Phase Budget Returned 3,143.47$           

` Phase Budget Remaining -$                    

Invoice Breakdown

14 3 Brownfield Plan Amendment 6,000.00$               429024 10/9/2023 2,733.55$                         

429753 11/2/2023 375.49$                            

431433 12/7/2023 71.63$                              

Phase Subtotal 3,180.67$                         Phase Subtotal 2,819.33$           

231417 13 3 YWCA, 550 S. Riverview Drive City of Parchment 23,250.00$             Invoice Total 428218 9/18/2023 1,230.54$                         

429320 10/12/2023 4,757.52$                         

429752 11/2/2023 2,693.54$                         

431432 12/7/2023 2,903.27$                         

432668 1/8/2024 1,857.40$                         

433688 2/13/2024 601.14$                            

434695 3/12/2024 60.89$                              

435835 4/10/2024 30.39$                              

436933 5/13/2024 30.39$                              

Project Subtotal 14,165.08$                       Project Subtotal 219.61$              

Budget Returned 219.61$              

Budget Remaining -$                    

Invoice Breakdown

3 Eligibility / HASP/ SAP/ Project Management 3,000.00$               428218 9/18/2023 882.23$                            

Phase Subtotal 882.23$                            Phase Subtotal 2,117.77$           

Phase Budget Returned* 2,117.77$           

Phase Bdget Remaining -$                    

3 PFE Testing 5,250.00$               428218 9/18/2023 348.31$                            

429320 10/12/2023 4,150.34$                         

429752 11/2/2023 122.11$                            

432668 1/8/2024 518.94$                            

Phase Subtotal   5,139.70$                         Phase Subtotal 110.30$              

Phase Budget Returned* 110.30$              

Phase Bdget Remaining -$                    

3 VMS Design 15,000.00$             429320 10/12/2023 607.18$                            

429752 11/2/2023 2,571.43$                         

431432 12/7/2023 2,903.27$                         

432668 1/8/2024 1,338.46$                         

433688 2/13/2024 601.14$                            

434695 3/12/2024 60.89$                              

435835 4/10/2024 30.39$                              

436933 5/13/2024 30.39$                              

Phase Subtotal 8,143.15$                         Phase Subtotal 6,856.85$           

Phase Budget Returned* 6,637.24$           

Phase Budget Returned* 219.61$              

Phase Bdget Remaining (0.00)$                 

231418 11 1,2,3 Redman Ventures, LLC 11,200.00$             Invoice Total 427548 9/7/2023 4,887.17$                         

429026 10/9/2023 1,200.18$                         

429756 11/2/2023 69.55$                              

431435 12/7/2023 191.00$                            

434698 3/12/2024 498.53$                            

435838 4/10/2024 112.80$                            

436940 5/13/2024 91.16$                              

438962 6/18/2024 101.98$                            

Invoice Total 441205 8/13/2024 60.77$                              

Project Subtotal 7,213.14$                         Project Subtotal 1,943.76$           

Budget Returned 1,943.76$           

Budget Remaining -$                    

Invoice Breakdown

1 Eligibility Update & Phase I ESA 3,200.00$               427548 9/7/2023 2,752.09$                         

429026 10/9/2023 447.91$                            

Phase Subtotal 3,200.00$                         Phase Subtotal -$                    

2 ASB -  Asbestos Survey 5,000.00$               427548 9/7/2023 2,135.08$                         

429026 10/9/2023 752.27$                            

429756 11/2/2023 69.55$                              

Phase Subtotal   2,956.90$                         Phase Subtotal 2,043.10$           

Phase Budget Returned* 2,043.10$           

Phase Bdget Remaining -$                    

3 BP Eval - Brownfield Plan Evaluation 3,000.00$               

431435 12/7/2023 191.00$                            

434698 3/12/2024 498.53$                            

435838 4/10/2024 112.80$                            

436940 5/13/2024 91.16$                              

438962 6/18/2024 101.98$                            

441205 8/13/2024 60.77$                              

31



Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority

U.S. EPA Brownfield Assessment Grant

Budget and Cost Summary

9/26/2024 
Page 4 of 5

Phase Subtotal 1,056.24$                         Phase Subtotal 1,943.76$           

Phase Budget Returned* 1,943.76$           

Phase Bdget Remaining -$                    

231419 12 3 Legacy Senior Living, 730 N. Burdick St. Kalamazoo 22,500.00$             Invoice Total 427545 9/7/2023 799.90$                            

429030 10/9/2023 479.03$                            

429759 11/2/2023 4,648.57$                         

431439 12/7/2023 4,002.89$                         

432673 1/8/2024 641.52$                            

433695 2/13/2024 61.05$                              

434705 3/12/2024 242.83$                            

435841 4/10/2024 552.35$                            

436950 5/13/2024 273.21$                            

438966 6/18/2024 101.97$                            

442376* 9/12/2024 764.79$                            

Project Subtotal 12,568.11$                       Project Subtotal 31.57$                

Budget Returned 31.57$                

Invoice Breakdown Budget Remaining -$                    

3 Response Activity Plan/Conceptual Site Model 17,500.00$             427545 9/7/2023 799.90$                            

429030 10/9/2023 143.25$                            

429759 11/2/2023 4,529.19$                         

431439 12/7/2023 1,577.81$                         

432673 1/8/2024 276.04$                            

433695 2/13/2024 61.05$                              

434705 3/12/2024 212.44$                            

Phase Subtotal 7,599.68$                         Phase Subtotal 9,900.32$           

Phase Budget Returned* 9,900.32$           

Phase Bdget Remaining -$                    

429030 10/9/2023 335.78$                            

429759 11/2/2023 119.38$                            

431439 12/7/2023 2,425.08$                         

432673 1/8/2024 365.48$                            

434705 3/12/2024 30.39$                              

435841 4/10/2024 552.35$                            

436950 5/13/2024 273.21$                            

438966 6/18/2024 101.97$                            

442376 9/12/2024 764.79$                            

3 Brownfield Cleanup Planning 5,000.00$               Phase Subtotal 4,968.43$                         Phase Subtotal 31.57$                

Budget Returned 31.57$                

Budget Remaining -$                    

231768 15 2,3 Urban Exposure Initiative, 1116 Lake Street, Kalamazoo 16,200.00$             Invoice Total 429758 11/2/2023 337.40$                            

431438 12/7/2023 1,551.79$                         

432672 1/8/2024 1,072.13$                         

433694 2/13/2024 154.89$                            

434704 3/12/2024 493.89$                            

435840 4/10/2024 255.96$                            

436949 5/13/2024 1,402.35$                         

Project Subtotal 5,268.41$                         Project Subtotal 6,847.80$           

Budget Returned 6,000.00$           

Budget Returned 847.80$              

Invoice Breakdown Budget Remaining -$                    

2 Eligibility/HASP/SAP/HMI 7,200.00$               

429758 11/2/2023 337.40$                            

431438 12/7/2023 1,551.79$                         

432672 1/8/2024 1,072.13$                         

433694 2/13/2024 154.89$                            

Phase Subtotal 3,116.21$                         Phase Subtotal 4,083.79$           

Phase Budget Returned* 4,083.79$           

Phase Bdget Remaining -$                    

3 Brownfield Plan Evaluation 3,000.00$               434704 3/12/2024 493.89$                            

435840 4/10/2024 255.96$                            

436949 5/13/2024 1,402.35$                         

Phase Subtotal 2,152.20$                         Phase Subtotal 847.80$              

Phase Budget Returned* 847.80$              

3 Brownfield Plan Preparation 6,000.00$               Phase Bdget Remaining -$                    

Phase Subtotal -$                                  Phase Subtotal 6,000.00$           

Budget Returned 6,000.00$           

Budget Remaining -$                    

231766 16 1, 2,3 702 W. Michigan Avenue, Kalamazoo 44,000.00$             Invoice Total 429751 11/2/2023 709.55$                            

431431 12/7/2023 14,104.00$                       

432667 1/8/2024 9,832.64$                         

433687 2/13/2024 576.99$                            

Project Subtotal 25,223.18$                       Project Subtotal 18,776.82$         

Budget Returned 18,776.82$         

Invoice Breakdown Budget Remaining -$                    

1 Eligibility/Phase I ESA 4,000.00$               

429751 11/2/2023 661.80$                            

431431 12/7/2023 2,540.41$                         

432667 1/8/2024 797.79$                            

Phase Subtotal 4,000.00$                         Phase Subtotal -$                    

2 Phase II ESA/HASP/SAP 18,500.00$             431431 12/7/2023 8,117.24$                         

432667 1/8/2024 7,970.09$                         

433687 2/13/2024 576.99$                            

Phase Subtotal 16,664.32$                       Phase Subtotal 1,835.68$           

2 Hazardous Materials Inspection 7,000.00$               

429751 11/2/2023 47.75$                              

431431 12/7/2023 3,446.35$                         

432667 1/8/2024 1,064.76$                         

Phase Subtotal 4,558.86$                         Phase Subtotal 2,441.14$           

2 BEA/Due Care 5,500.00$               

Phase Subtotal -$                                  Phase Subtotal 5,500.00$           

3 Brownfield Plan Evaluation 3,000.00$               

Phase Subtotal -$                                  Phase Subtotal 3,000.00$           

3 Brownfield Plan Preparation 6,000.00$               

Phase Subtotal -$                                  Phase Subtotal 6,000.00$           

32



Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority

U.S. EPA Brownfield Assessment Grant

Budget and Cost Summary

9/26/2024 
Page 5 of 5

240812 17 1 Teresa's Kitchen, 1216, 1222, and 1228 S. Burdick, Kalamazoo 25,015.00$             Invoice Total 436934 5/13/2024 307.97$                            

Invoice Total 438959 6/18/2024 2,692.03$                         

Invoice Total 441204 8/13/2024 376.98$                            

Invoice Total 442365* 9/12/2024 1,950.31$                         

Project Subtotal 5,327.29$                         Project Subtotal 19,687.71$         

Invoice Breakdown

1 Eligibility/Phase I ESA 3,000.00$               436934 5/13/2024 307.97$                            

438959 6/18/2024 2,692.03$                         

Phase Subtotal 3,000.00$                         Phase Subtotal -$                    

 

2 HMI 4,765.00$               

442365* 9/12/2024 450.63$                            

Phase Subtotal 450.63$                            Phase Subtotal 4,314.37$           

.

2 Phase II 12,250.00$             441204 8/13/2024 376.98$                            

442365* 9/12/2024 1,499.68$                         

Phase Subtotal 1,876.66$                         Phase Subtotal 10,373.34$         

2 BEA/Due Care 5,000.00$               

  

Phase Subtotal -$                                  Phase Subtotal 5,000.00$           

241171 18 1 J. Smith Laundry and Apts -802 N. Westnedge Avenue, 438 & 34,495.00$             

442 W. Frank Street Invoice Total 442368* 9/12/2024 2,502.61$                         

-$                                  

Project Subtotal 2,502.61$                         Project Subtotal 31,992.39$         

Invoice Breakdown

1 Eligibility/Phase I ESA 3,000.00$               442368* 9/12/2024 1,763.58$                         

Phase Subtotal 1,763.58$                         Phase Subtotal 1,236.42$           

2 Phase II 18,495.00$             442368* 9/12/2024 436.72$                            

Phase Subtotal 436.72$                            Phase Subtotal 18,058.28$         

2 BEA/Due Care 5,000.00$               442368* 9/12/2024 82.40$                              

Phase Subtotal 82.40$                              Phase Subtotal 4,917.60$           

3 Brownfield Plan 8,000.00$               

442368* 9/12/2024 219.91$                            

Phase Subtotal 1,983.49$                         Phase Subtotal 6,016.51$           

241434 19 1 234/238 EM, LLC - 234 and 238 E. Michigan Ave, Kalamazoo 3,000.00$               

Invoice Total

-$                                  

Project Subtotal -$                                  Project Subtotal 3,000.00$           

Invoice Breakdown

1 Eligibility/Phase I ESA 3,000.00$               

Phase Subtotal -$                                  Phase Subtotal 3,000.00$           

Approved Project Budgets Subtotal 381,005.01$           Invoice Total 232,390.00$                      Budgets Remaining 55,864.56$         

Estimated Contractual Budget Remaining (89,705.01)$            58,910.00$                       

Check 291,300.00$       

Project Budgets Returned 

210265 3 2 1001 2nd Street, Kalamazoo 2,676.98$               

230922 7 2 Watershed LLC - 6667 Stadum Drive, Oshtemo Township 7,451.60$               

210220 1 2 QAPP Preparation 2,400.00$               

230923 10 3 Midlink Business Park Expansion 5,962.80$               

230914 9 3 555 Eliza Street Schoolcraft Expansion 8,859.15$               

231417 13 3 YWCA, 550 S. Riverview Drive City of Parchment* 9,084.92$               

220128 5 2 NACD - Ransom and North St. 446.00$                  

231418 11 1,2,3 Redman Ventures, LLC 3,986.86$               

231419 12 3 Legacy Senior Living, 730 N. Burdick St. Kalamazoo 9,931.89$               

231768 15 2,3 Urban Exposure Initiative, 1116 Lake Street, Kalamazoo 10,931.59$             

231766 16 1, 2,3 702 W. Michigan Avenue, Kalamazoo 18,776.82$             

220129 4 2 NACD - Church and Frank Street Parcels 8,241.84$               

230924 8 2 Comstock Charter Township, Comstock Center Redevelopment 4,000.00$               

Available Contractual Budget Remaining 3,045.44$               

Notes:

*Pending

 Actual Contractual Budget Remaining 

and un-invoiced 

33



Memo 
TO: Macy Walters, Brownfield Redevelopment Administrator, Kalamazoo County Brownfield 

Redevelopment Authority 

FROM: Therese Searles, Senior Brownfield Specialist 
Jeff Hawkins, Vice President/Senior Hydrogeologist 

DATE: September 26, 2024 

SUBJECT: FY25 USEPA Assessment Coalition Grant 

The City of Kalamazoo Brownfield Redevelopment Authority (KBRA) has approached the Kalamazoo County 
Brownfield Redevelopment Authority (KCBRA) regarding interest in applying for a U.S. Environmental Protection 
Agency (USEPA) Brownfield Assessment Grant for the fiscal year 2025 (FY25). The city desires to collaborate with 
the county instead of competing against them. Therefore, the city has reached out to KCBRA staff to discuss 
partnering in a coalition grant. 

Coalition grants are designed for a “lead” entity to partner with two to four entities that “do not have the capacity 
to apply for and manage their own EPA cooperative agreement and otherwise would not have access to 
Brownfields Grant resources.” 

The differences between a Community-wide Assessment Grant and an Assessment Coalition Grant for FY25 are 
summarized below: 

The FY25 USEPA Brownfield Assessment Grant application period is now open, and applications are due 
November 14, 2025, so decision-making discussions regarding the application process should be made as soon as 
feasible. 

Community-wide Assessment
Grant 

Assessment Coalition Grant 

Maximum Award Amount $500,000 $1,200,000 

Performance Period 4 Years 4 Years 

Item 7 a iii

34



Scope of Services

Contract for Professional Services 

Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority  

Applicable to Contract Dated November 15, 2021 

Work Order No. 19, Amendment No. 1 Dated September 26, 2024 

Between 

KALAMAZOO COUNTY BROWNFIELD And FISHBECK 

REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY (CLIENT) 2960 INTERSTATE PARKWAY 

201 WEST KALAMAZOO AVENUE  KALAMAZOO, MICHIGAN 49048 

KALAMAZOO, MICHIGAN 49007-3777 

Subject Matter: 234/238 EM, LLC – 234 and 238 East Michigan Avenue, City of Kalamazoo 

Funding Source: U.S. EPA Brownfield Assessment Grant FY21 

Task 1 – Phase I Assessment (Underway -W.O. 19) 

Task 2 – Pre-Renovation Hazardous Materials Survey (Amendment No. 1 and other funding sources) 

CLIENT requests that FISHBECK perform the work described below in accordance with the terms of the above-referenced 

Contract and as described in this “Scope of Services.” 

FISHBECK will begin work on this Work Order and complete the services as described in the attached "Scope of Services." 

FISHBECK and CLIENT have designated the following representatives for this “Scope of Services”: 

Jeffrey C. Hawkins 269.342.1100 

Name (FISHBECK) Phone 

Ken Peregon, Chair 269.384.8112 

Name (CLIENT) Phone 

If CLIENT accepts this Scope of Services, please sign this Work Order on behalf of CLIENT and return to the FISHBECK 

Representative above: 

ACCEPTED AND AGREED TO: 

KALAMAZOO COUNTY BROWNFIELD  FISHBECK 

REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY (CLIENT) 

By Ken Peregon By Jeffrey C. Hawkins 

Title Chair Title Vice President/Senior Hydrogeologist 

Signature ________________________ Signature ________________________ 

Date ______________ Date ______________ 

Item 7 a iv

35



Work Order No. 19, Amendment No. 1 

September 26, 2024 Fishbeck | Page 2 

 

Z:\ENVIROLOGIC\PROJECTS\PROJECTS_K\KALAMAZOO COUNTY\BROWNFIELD REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY\2021 EPA BROWNFIELD ASSESSMENT GRANT\INVOICES AND UPDATES\2024\SEPTEMBER 26, 2024 

MEETING MATERIALS\WORK ORDER 19 AMENDMENT NO. 1 - 234-238 EM LLC.DOCX 

I. Scope of Services 

A project application has been submitted by 234/238 EM, LLC to the Kalamazoo County Brownfield 

Redevelopment Authority (KCBRA) requesting funding support through the use of the County’s U.S. 

Environmental Protection Agency (U.S. EPA) Assessment Grant for the project located at 234 and 238 East 

Michigan Avenue in downtown Kalamazoo. 234/238 EM, LLC acquired the property in September of 2023 and 

desires to renovate the second floor of the historic downtown building to provide residential opportunities within 

the heart of the downtown business district. The building is commonly referred to as the “Heimstra Building” and 

is located in the Haymarket Historic District. The proposed renovations will preserve the historic features and will 

include extensive interior demolition on the second floor to create four (4) one-bedroom housing units and retain 

a commercial first-floor tenant (Heimstra Optical).  The total project costs are anticipated to be $1,79 million with 

rehabilitation efforts commencing early 2025 with an anticipated completion date of Fall requested requesting 

funding support from the KCBRA for this scope of work under Work Order 19. It was anticipated that the project 

would have additional assessment needs. 

Based on some anticipated remaining EPA grant funds available to support this project, the proposed scope of 

services included in this amended work order consists of Hazardous Materials Inspection. The cost of this 

inspection may be greater than existing funds available and the Board should evaluate funding options. 

 

Hazardous Materials Inspection 

A Pre-Renovation Hazardous Materials Inspection, inclusive of an asbestos survey and limited paint chip sampling, 

is a proposed scope of work included in this amended Work Order. The asbestos survey will be conducted by a 

team of two inspectors, led by a State of Michigan accredited Asbestos Building Inspector, to determine if 

asbestos-containing materials exist that will require abatement prior to renovation. The paint chips will be 

analyzed for lead and cadmium to inform contractors on potential worker exposures. 

II. Compensation 

Compensation for services provided under this Work Order will be completed on a time-and-materials basis 

invoiced at the rates provided in the Contract for Professional Services between FISHBECK and CLIENT 

not-to-exceed the budget detailed below without prior authorization from the KCBRA. 

Hazardous Materials Inspection: 

Survey Labor (2 inspectors)............................................................................................................................ $ 2,600 

Project Management and Coordination (includes HASP and SAP preparation) ............................................. $ 800 

Laboratory Analysis (est. 65 asbestos samples, 4 paint chip samples for lead/cadmium analysis) ................ $ 870 

Report Preparation ........................................................................................................................................ $ 1,200 

Field Expenses, Equipment, Mileage .............................................................................................................. $ 225 

Estimated Budget – HMI .......................................................................................................................... $ 5,695 

Total Estimated Budget – Amendment No. 1 Scope of Work ..................................................................... $ 5,695 

 

Work Order 19 Budget (approved 8/22/2024) .............................................................................................. $ 3,000 

Total Estimated Budget – Amendment No. 1 Scope of Work ........................................................................ $ 5,695 

Total Estimated Project Budget – Work Order 19 and Amendment No. 1 .................................................. $ 8,695 

 

36



Work Order No. 19, Amendment No. 1 

September 26, 2024 Fishbeck | Page 3 

 

Z:\ENVIROLOGIC\PROJECTS\PROJECTS_K\KALAMAZOO COUNTY\BROWNFIELD REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY\2021 EPA BROWNFIELD ASSESSMENT GRANT\INVOICES AND UPDATES\2024\SEPTEMBER 26, 2024 

MEETING MATERIALS\WORK ORDER 19 AMENDMENT NO. 1 - 234-238 EM LLC.DOCX 

At time of preparation of this amended work order, anticipated remaining grant funds to be eligible to support 

this project are $3,045.44. The Board should evaluate additional funding sources to cover the difference, 

including potentially any additional remaining grant funds. 

III. Schedule 

The amended scope of services is contingent on receiving the requested grant extension from the USEPA. If the 

extension is granted, HMI activities can be initiated, including preparation of the HASP and SAP, upon 

authorization to proceed. Field services are anticipated to occur within two weeks from SAP approval, 7–10 

business days for laboratory turnaround, and an additional 1–2 weeks to prepare the report. In addition, results 

of the Phase I ESA will inform whether any additional scope of work is recommended.  

37



BROWNFIELD PLAN DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 

THIS BROWNFIELD PLAN DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT (the “Agreement”), is 

entered into on ________, 2024 between the KALAMAZOO COUNTY BROWNFIELD 

REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY, a Michigan public body corporate established pursuant to 

Act 381 of the Public Acts of 1996, as amended, MCL 125.2651 et seq. (“Act 381”), whose address 

is 201 W. Kalamazoo Avenue, Room 101, Kalamazoo, Michigan 49007 (the “Authority”), and 

LANDSCAPE FORMS, INC. (the “Developer”).   

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, the Authority, of the Charter Township of Comstock (the "Township"), and 

Kalamazoo County (the "County") have determined that brownfield redevelopment constitutes the 

performance of an essential public purpose which protects and promotes the public health, safety 

and welfare. 

WHEREAS, Kalamazoo County has established a Brownfield Redevelopment Authority 

and the Authority and the County have adopted a Brownfield Plan specifically for this site (the 

“Plan”), pursuant to the provisions of Act 381. 

WHEREAS, the Authority and the County have designated certain properties that have 

conditions of environmental contamination, blight or obsolescence as appropriate sites for creating 

a Plan, or any other eligibility status deemed eligible per Public Act 381 

WHEREAS, Act 381 permits the use of the real and personal property tax revenues 

generated from the increase in value (the “Increment”) to brownfield sites constituting Eligible 

Property under Act 381 resulting from their redevelopment to pay or reimburse the payment of 

costs of conducting Eligible Activities (these costs are referred to as “Eligible Costs”) and, unless 

Developer is a liable party for the site contamination, permits the reimbursement to Developer of 

Eligible Costs it has incurred. 

WHEREAS, Developer owns property in Kalamazoo County located at_7800 E. Michigan 

Ave. in Kalamazoo, MI, 49048 (the “Property”) and legally described on the attached Exhibit A.  

WHEREAS, the Property has been included in the Plan and qualified as an “Eligible 

Property” under the terms of Act 381.  

WHEREAS, Developer intends to redevelop the site to develop a 300,000 square foot 

warehouse building, expanding the current operational facilities located at the Property. These 

investments are expected to retain 91 jobs and create at least 125 new jobs at this location and 

would increase the property tax base within Kalamazoo County (the “Project”). 

WHEREAS, the Project will require the Developer to incur Eligible Costs associated with 

certain Eligible Activities including site preparation, assistance to the Kalamazoo County Land 

Bank Authority (the “Land Bank”), and other statutorily allowable eligible environmental and 

nonenvironmental activities which may require the services of various contractors, engineers, 

Item 7 b

DRAFT

38



environmental consultants, attorneys and other professionals. The Developer’s Eligible Costs shall 

not exceed 3,847,348 (together with Interest thereon, as provided in Paragraph Five). 

 

 WHEREAS, the parties are entering into this Agreement to establish the procedure for the 

reimbursement from Tax Increment Revenues under Act 381 as amended.  

 

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants, conditions and 

agreements set forth herein, the parties agree as follows: 

 

1. Recitals.  The above recitals are acknowledged as true and correct, and are incorporated 

by reference into this Paragraph. 

 

2. The Plan.  The Plan, approved by the Authority and the Commission of the County, 

concurred by the Charter Township of Comstock, is attached as Exhibit B and incorporated as part 

of this Agreement.  To the extent provisions of the Plan or this Agreement conflict with Act 381, 

Act 381 controls. 

 

3. Term of Agreement.  Pursuant to the Plan, the Authority shall capture that amount of Tax 

Increment Revenues generated from real and personal property taxes allowed by law on the 

Eligible Property. Capture will begin in the fourth year (2028) after the year of the establishment 

of the Plan (2024) and will continue until the earlier of (hereinafter, the "End Date"): 

 

3.1 Full reimbursement to the Authority of its Administrative Costs, plus 

reimbursement to the Developer of the Property as outlined in the Plan, including reimbursement 

of Eligible Costs for those Eligible Activities set forth in Paragraph 5, plus an additional amount 

captured by the Authority for an additional five full years of tax capture ("Additional Authority 

Amount") such Additional Authority Amount to be designated for the Local Brownfield Revolving 

Fund ("LBRF"); or 

 

 3.2 30 years from the beginning date of the capture of Tax Increment Revenues, with 

five of the 30-years designated for LBRF only. It is estimated the Plan will complete capture within 

26 years or as modeled in the attached Brownfield Plan reimbursement schedule.  

 

4. Evidence of Ownership.  Prior to the execution of this Agreement, Developer shall 

provide to the Authority each of the following: (a) evidence satisfactory to the Authority that the 

Developer has acquired fee simple title to the Property, which evidence shall include (without 

limitation) a copy of a recorded deed to the Property in favor of the Developer; and (b) a copy of 

a commitment for owner's title insurance with respect to the Property (the "Commitment"), which 

Commitment shall show the Developer as record owner of the Property, shall reflect that all 

material conditions to the issuance of a policy thereunder have been satisfied, and shall otherwise 

be in form and substance satisfactory to the Authority. 

 

 

5. Eligible Activities.  The Developer shall diligently pursue completion of the Eligible 

Activities summarized in the Plan and set forth in this Paragraph.  The Authority shall reimburse 

the Developer for Eligible Costs incurred on or after the date of the inclusion of this Project in the 

Plan and may include site preparation, assistance to the Land Bank, and other statutorily allowable 

eligible environmental and nonenvironmental activities, which may require the services of various 

DRAFT

39



contractors, engineers, environmental consultants, attorneys and other professionals. Simple 

interest at the rate of three percent (3%) per annum (“Interest”) shall accrue on all approved 

Eligible Costs as described in the Plan, in each case calculated from the date the Authority 

approves Developer’s request for reimbursement for the pertinent Eligible Costs until such Eligible 

Costs are reimbursed in full. Interest will be calculated at the end of each calendar year based on 

the total unreimbursed Eligible Costs outstanding at that time (other than accrued Interest).  

Principal amounts of the Eligible Costs shall be reimbursed to Developer prior to Interest accruing 

thereon.   

 

6. Reimbursement Source.  During the term of this Agreement and except as otherwise set 

forth in this Agreement, the Authority shall reimburse the Developer for its Eligible Costs, as 

limited under this Agreement, from all available Tax Increment Revenues collected from the real 

and personal property taxes on the Property,  

 

7. Reimbursement Process.   

 

 7.1 Cost Reimbursement Request.  The Developer will provide sufficient 

documentation of the Eligible Costs incurred including the dates of each Eligible Activity, a 

complete description of the work, proof of payment, detailed invoices for the costs involved for 

each Eligible Activity, sworn statements, lien waivers and other back up documentation reasonably 

requested by the Authority, and a written statement certifying to the Authority that all such costs 

are "Eligible Costs" and permitted to be reimbursed to Developer under Act 381 and all other 

applicable laws and regulations.  Failure to provide the above noted information when due, or 

within the time permitted by the Authority under Paragraph 7.2, may result in foregone 

reimbursement, to the Developer by the Authority, for Eligible Costs that have not been requested 

within the timeframe described above. 

 

 7.2 Authority Staff Review.  The Authority Staff shall review each reimbursement 

request within 30 days after receiving it. If Authority Staff determines that the documentation 

submitted by the Developer is not complete, then Developer shall cooperate in the Authority’s 

review by providing, within 30 days of the Authority's request, any additional documentation of 

the Eligible Costs as deemed reasonable and necessary by the Authority in order to complete its 

review. Within 45 days following the receipt of such supplemental information, the Authority shall 

make the determination of whether the costs are eligible for reimbursement. If the Developer 

wishes to challenge that determination, it shall provide written notice to the Authority within 15 

days of the determination, and the issue shall be brought to the Authority within 45 days thereafter 

for a final determination.  The Developer shall not have any further appeal rights to challenge the 

final determination of the Authority and shall not be entitled to any claim or cause of action against 

Kalamazoo County or the Authority as a result of any determinations made in good faith regarding 

whether or not any cost submitted by the Developer constitutes an "Eligible Cost," and hereby 

grants the County and the Authority and their respective officers, agents and employees, a 

complete release and waiver of any claims or causes of action as a result of the foregoing. 

  

 

7.3 Reimbursement.  After both the summer and winter taxes are captured and 

collected on the Property, the Authority shall reimburse its Eligible and Administrative Costs and 

pay approved Eligible Costs to the Developer from Tax Increment Revenues that are generated 

from the Property in accordance with the Plan and Paragraph 7 to the extent that taxes have been 

DRAFT

40



captured and are available in that fiscal year. The Authority shall receive one hundred (100) percent 

of Tax Increment Revenues until fully reimbursed, unless otherwise designated by the Authority.  

In the event that there are insufficient Tax Increment Revenues available in any given year to 

reimburse all of the Authority’s and Developer’s Eligible Costs, as described in Paragraph 5, then 

the Authority shall reimburse the Authority or Developer only from available Tax Increment 

Revenues.  Once the Authority is fully reimbursed for its Eligible Costs, the Developer shall 

receive the available Tax Increment Revenue, less Administrative Costs, during the term of this 

Agreement, until all of the amounts for which submissions have been made have been fully paid 

to the Developer, or the repayment obligation expires, whichever occurs first. The Authority shall 

make additional payments, on an annual basis, toward the Developer’s remaining unpaid Eligible 

Costs during the term of this Agreement. The Developer shall not be entitled to reimbursement 

under this Agreement unless the Developer has timely and completely paid its real and personal 

property taxes (or industrial facilities taxes) including all penalties, interest and other amounts due 

in relation thereto when due.  For purposes of this Agreement, to be timely paid, taxes must be 

paid before the date on which they can no longer be paid without penalties or interest. The 

repayment obligation under this Agreement shall expire on the End Date. 

7.4 Method of Reimbursement.  Except as otherwise provided below, the Authority 

will reimburse the Developer for Eligible Costs as follows: 

Checks shall be payable to and delivered by certified mail (or through electronic transfer if 

available through Developer) to: 

Landscape Forms, Inc. 

7800 East Michigan Ave. 

Kalamazoo, MI 49048  

Developer is obligated to pay the Land Bank the “Land Bank Payment” (as defined in that certain 

Development Agreement dated __________, 2024, between Developer and Land Bank (the “Land 

Bank Development Agreement”)). The County has further agreed to provide funds to Developer 

to make the Land Bank Payment to Land Bank on Developer’s behalf and Developer has agreed 

to repay such amount to the County. Developer hereby agrees that the Authority may pay any 

amounts of Tax Increment Revenue payable to Developer under this Agreement for reimbursement 

of Eligible Costs associated with the Land Bank Payment directly to the County on Developer’s 

behalf. Developer acknowledges and agrees that nothing in this agreement shall be construed to 

create any liability of the Authority for such payment or any other amounts owing from Developer 

to Land Bank or the County.  

8. Adjustments.  The parties acknowledge that adjustments regarding the amount of Tax

Increment Revenue paid to the Developer may occur under any of the following circumstances:  

8.1 Audit or Court Ruling:  In the event that a state agency of competent jurisdiction 

conducting an audit of payments made to the Developer under this Agreement or a court of 

competent jurisdiction determines that any portion of the payments made to the Developer under 

this Agreement is unlawful, the Developer shall pay back to the Authority that portion of the 

payments made to the Developer within 30 days of the determination made by a state agency or 

the court as the case may be.  However, the Developer shall have the right, before any such 

repayment is made, to appeal on its or the Authority’s behalf, any such determination made by a 

DRAFT

41



state agency or court as the case may be.  If the Developer is unsuccessful in such an appeal, the 

Developer shall repay the portion of payments found to be unlawful to the Authority within thirty 

(30) days of the date when the final determination is made on the appeal.  The Developer shall be 

responsible for payment of all of the County's and Authority's legal fees associated with any 

determination of whether a cost for which reimbursement is requested constitutes an "Eligible 

Cost" and all of the County's and Authority's legal fees associated with the review or determination 

of such issues by any state agency or court. 

 

8.2   Property Tax Appeal:  In the event the Developer, or any other owner of real estate 

on the Property, files an appeal with the Michigan Tax Tribunal, related to the taxable value of 

parcels of property included in the Brownfield Plan, the Authority shall do the following: 

a.  The Authority will remit Tax Increment Revenue reimbursement payments based upon 

the lowest taxable value being sought pursuant to the appeal; 

b.  Any Tax Increment Revenue that is collected but not remitted as a result of a tax appeal 

shall be held in a separate account of the Authority until the pending appeal is 

adjudicated; 

c.  Once any tax appeals are adjudicated, the Authority will either return the escrowed funds 

to the local unit in compliance with any tax appeal rulings, or will make payments 

pursuant to Section 7 of this Agreement. 

 

8.3 Reduction of Property Assessments:   If the Authority (i) incurs Administrative 

Costs on behalf of the Developer with respect to the Project, Site or Application and (ii) the 

Developer initiates, participates in or supports any proceeding or process which results in a 

reduction of the tax increment capture for the Project from that projected and along the same term 

as contained within the Plan, the Developer indemnifies and will fully reimburse the Authority 

within 30 days of notification from the Authority as to the amount and the due date for all 

Administrative Costs as defined within the Plan, expenses or reduction in revenue from what was 

projected as the tax increment capture. 

 

9. Responsibilities of Developer.  In consideration of the inclusion of the Property into the 

Plan and the resulting financial benefits, which it expects to receive, Developer agrees to the 

following: 

 

9.1 Project.  At its sole expense, Developer shall use its best efforts to conduct the 

activities described in the Plan and to demolish the existing buildings on the Property and construct 

the Project. The Developer intends to transform the property into a 300,000 square foot warehouse 

building. The new investment planned for this site includes an initial total capital investment of 

$70,000,000.  The redevelopment of the Property shall commence no later than Spring 2025 and 

shall be completed no later than Fall 2027.  Under no circumstances shall the Authority have any 

responsibility or liability for remediation or redevelopment of the Property, or for conducting any 

"Eligible Activities" at the Property, except for its obligations under this Agreement to provide 

funds to the extent available as permitted in Paragraph 7 hereof with respect to payments from Tax 

Increment Revenues. 

 

9.2 Employment Opportunities.  Make every reasonable effort to work with the 

County and community employment agencies to hire County residents for new employment 

opportunities created by the Project, and to encourage the local contracting of construction and site 

related work. 

DRAFT

42



 

9.3 Ordinances.  Develop the Property, including landscaping and all other 

improvements required for the Project, in compliance with all local ordinances, site plan reviews 

and this Agreement.  The redevelopment of the Property shall be subject to all zoning approvals.  

This Agreement does not obligate any governing municipality to grant any such approvals. 

 

9.4 Project Sign.  Place on the Property during rehabilitation/redevelopment a 

development sign provided by the Authority to promote the Project and the Authority’s 

participation in it. Upon completion of the Project, the sign will be returned to the Authority. 

 

9.5 Promotion and Marketing.  Permit the Authority to cite or to use any renderings 

or photographs or other materials of the Project as an example of private/public partnership and 

brownfield site redevelopment. 

 

9.6 Cooperation.  Assist and cooperate with the Authority in providing information 

that the Authority may require in providing necessary reports to governmental or other agencies, 

including, but not limited to, information regarding the amount of Developer expenditures and 

capital investments, jobs created, and square footage developed or rehabilitated with respect to the 

Project.  

 

9.7 Payment of Authority Legal and Professional Fees.  To the extent the following 

costs and fees are not paid to the Authority from Tax Increment Revenues, the Developer shall 

reimburse the Authority for its legal and professional fees and disbursements incurred in 

connection with the review, approval and administration of the Plan for this Project, including any 

further amendments thereto; the preparation and negotiation of this Agreement, as it may be 

amended from time to time; and all documents and matters related thereto, including future 

expense.  Developer shall reimburse the Authority for such expenses within 30 days from the date 

that the Authority sends an invoice and request for payment to Developer, provided Developer 

shall be eligible for reimbursement for such expenses to the extent permitted by law from Tax 

Increment Revenues.  

 

10. Responsibilities of the Authority.  In consideration of the preceding commitments of 

Developer the Authority further agrees to: 

 

10.1 Agency Contacts. Provide Developer with appropriate service/employment 

agency contacts for the identification of County residents to interview for potential 

employment; and 

   

10.2 Cooperation.  Cooperate and utilize its best efforts to obtain any governmental 

approvals required to close the transaction contemplated by this Agreement.  

 

 

11. Developer's Representations, Warranties and Covenants.  The Developer hereby 

makes the following representations, warranties and covenants: 

 

 11.1 Eligible Property.  The Property is "eligible property" as defined in Act 381 and 

is eligible for the capture of Tax Increment Revenues pursuant to Act 381. 

 

DRAFT

43



 11.2 Eligible Costs.  The Developer will only submit for reimbursement under 

Paragraph 7 hereof such costs that are Eligible Costs (as defined herein) for which Developer is 

permitted to be reimbursed pursuant to Act 381 and all other applicable laws and regulations. 

 

 11.3 Due Authorization.  The representatives signing this Agreement are duly 

authorized by the Developer to enter into this Agreement. 

 

12. Events of Default.  Each of the following shall constitute an event of default: 

 

 12.1 Any representation or warranty made by the Developer in this Agreement proves 

to have been incorrect or incomplete in any material respect when made or deemed to be made. 

 

 12.2 The Developer fails to observe or perform any covenant or agreement contained in 

this Agreement for 30 days after written notice thereof shall have been given to the Developer by 

the Authority. 

 

 12.3 The Developer abandons or withdraws from the reuse and redevelopment of the 

Property or indicates its intention to do so. 

 

 12.4 The Developer fails to pay any funds within 30 days of the date due which are 

required to be paid to the Authority pursuant to this Agreement, including but not limited to its 

real and personal property taxes as set forth in Paragraph 7 hereof. 

 

 12.5 The Developer terminates its existence. 

 

 12.6 Any material provision of this Agreement shall cease to be valid and binding on the 

Developer or shall be declared null and void; the validity or enforceability of such provision shall 

be contested or denied by the Developer; or the Developer denies that it is bound by this 

Agreement. 

 

13. Remedies upon Default.  If any event of default as defined above shall occur and be 

continuing for 30 days after written notice of default from the Authority, the Authority shall have 

the right, but not the obligation, to exercise any of the following rights and remedies either 

individually or concurrently:  

(a) Terminate this Agreement effective immediately upon notice to the Developer;  

 

(b) Receive reimbursement from the Developer for all costs which the Authority has 

incurred in connection with the Project, the Property, or this Development Agreement 

(within 30 days following demand); and 

 

(c) All other remedies available at law or in equity. 

 

In addition, if the Developer fails to substantially complete the Project within the 

timelines required by this Agreement, or if Developer otherwise defaults prior to substantial 

completion of the Project, Developer shall pay back to the Authority (within thirty (30) days 

following demand by the Authority) any amounts paid to Developer as reimbursement for 

Eligible Costs pursuant to the terms of this Agreement or otherwise.  

 

DRAFT

44



Following a default by Developer, or following expiration or termination of this Agreement 

for any reason, Developer shall then be responsible for all subsequent Project costs, including 

Eligible Costs, without contribution from Tax Increment Revenues collected by the Authority from 

taxes levied on the Property.   

 

14. Legislative Authorization.  This Agreement is governed by and subject to the restrictions 

set forth in Act 381.  In the event that there is legislation enacted in the future which alters or 

affects the amount of Tax Increment Revenues subject to capture, Eligible Properties, or Eligible 

Activities, then the Developer’s rights and the Authority’s obligations under this Agreement may 

be modified accordingly by agreement of the parties. 

 

15. Freedom of Information Act.  Developer stipulates that all petitions and documentation 

submitted by Developer shall be open to the public under the Freedom of Information Act, Act 

No. 442 of the Public Acts of 1976, MCL 15.231 et seq., and no claim of trade secrets or other 

privilege or exception to the Freedom of Information Act will be claimed by Developer as it relates 

to this Agreement or petitions and supporting documentation. 

 

16. Plan Modification.  The Plan and this Agreement may be modified to the extent allowed 

under Act 381 by mutual agreement of the parties.   

 

17. Notices.  All notices and other communications required or permitted under this Agreement 

shall be in writing, shall be deemed given when delivered, and shall be sent by personal delivery, 

overnight courier, or registered mail, return receipt requested, to the following addresses (or any 

other address that is specified in writing by either party): 

 

 If to Developer:  Landscape Forms, Inc.  

     7800 E. Michigan Ave. 

     Kalamazoo, MI, 49048  

     

If to the Authority:  Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority 

     201 W. Kalamazoo Avenue 

Kalamazoo, Michigan 49007 

 

 With copy to:   Varnum LLP 

     Attn:  Fred Schubkegel 

               Elliott M. Berlin 

211 East Water Street, Suite 400 

Kalamazoo, MI 49007 

 

18. Indemnification.  Developer shall defend, indemnify and hold harmless the Authority and 

the County, and any of their respective past, present and future members, officials, employees, 

agents or representatives from all losses, demands, claims, judgments, suits, costs and expenses 

(including without limitation the costs and fees of attorneys or other consultants) arising from or 

related to (i) the capture and use of Tax Increment Revenue paid to Developer as a reimbursable 

payment under this Agreement made in excess of the amount of tax increment revenues the 

Authority is determined by the State of Michigan, any court, or other regulatory or administrative 

body to be allowed by law to use for that reimbursement (collectively, a "Governing Body"), (ii) 

any determination by a Governing Body that any reimbursement of Eligible Costs paid to 

DRAFT

45



Developer is not permitted by Act 381 or any other applicable law or regulation, (iii) the Land 

Bank Development Agreement or the Authority’s direct payment of any amounts to Land Bank, 

the County, or any other person, entity, or governmental authority on behalf of Developer, (iv) any 

breach of this Agreement by Developer,  and (v) the Project. The provisions of this Section shall 

survive the termination of this Agreement. 

 

19. Governing Law.  This Agreement shall be construed in accordance with and governed by 

the laws of the State of Michigan.   

 

20. Binding Effect/Third Parties.  This Agreement is binding on and shall inure to the benefit 

of the parties to this Agreement and their respective successors, but it may not be assigned by any 

party without the prior written consent of the other party.  The parties do not intend to confer any 

benefits on any person, firm, corporation, or other entity which is not party to this Agreement. 

 

21. Waiver.  No failure of either party to complain of any act or omission on the part of the 

other party, no matter how long this same may continue, is considered as a waiver by that party to 

any of its rights hereunder.  No waiver by either party, expressed or implied, of any breach of any 

provision of this Agreement is considered a waiver or a consent to any subsequent breach of this 

same or other provision. 

 

22. Authorization.  Each of the parties represents and warrants to the other that this Agreement 

and its execution by the individual on its behalf are authorized by the board of directors or other 

governing body of that party. 

 

23. Entire Agreement.  This Agreement supersedes all agreements previously made between 

the parties relating to the subject matter.  There are no other understandings or agreements between 

them. 

 

24. Headings.  Headings in this Agreement are for convenience only and shall not be used to 

interpret or construe its provisions. 

 

25. Definitions.  The following capitalized terms are used in this Agreement with the 

following meanings:  

 

 "Administrative Costs" means the Authority's out-of-pocket costs associated with the 

 Project (including reasonable attorney fees and costs, environmental consulting fees and 

 costs, and similar fees and costs) as well as the Authority's indirect costs associated with 

 the Project (including allocation of the fixed costs of the Authority staff.) 

“Brownfield Plan” is defined by Section 2(e) of Act 381; 

 “Due Care Activities” is defined by Section 2(m) of Act 381; 

 “Eligible Activities” is defined by Section 2(o) of Act 381; 

 “Eligible Property or Properties” is defined by Section 2(p) Act 381; 

 “Tax Increment Revenue(s)” is defined by Section 2(ss) of Act 381, and, for purposes of  

 this Agreement, includes school taxes and local (non-school) taxes. 

 

[Signature Page Follows] 

 

DRAFT

46



 

 In witness of their intent to be legally bound by the terms of this Brownfield Plan 

Development Agreement, each of the parties has set forth its signature below by its duly authorized 

representative. 

   

 

KALAMAZOO COUNTY BROWNFIELD 

REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 

 

By_________________________________ 

 

Title________________________________ 

 

Date________________________________ 

 

 

 

LANDSCAPE FORMS, INC. 

 

By_________________________________ 

 

Title________________________________ 

 

Date________________________________ 

 

 

 
 

EXHIBITS: 

 

A (Legal Description of Property) 

 

B (Copy of Brownfield Plan) 

 

 

 

  

 DRAFT

47



Exhibit A 

Legal Description 

 

See attached. 

 

 

DRAFT

48



Exhibit B 

Brownfield Plan 

 

See attached. 

DRAFT

49



KCBRA Fund 243 General Fund 2024 Expense Detail

1 Postage              Contractual ‐ Other Salaries

2   Jan‐March 0.99$              Varnum (IPUSA) 155.00$           Salary R Q1 662.64$

3 April‐June 0 Varnum (IPUSA) 712.50$           Salary M Q1 15,655.36$              

4 July‐Sept. Varnum (Midlink) 522.00$           Fringe Q1 7,000.42$                

5 Oct.‐Dec. Salary R Q2 552.20$

6 Total 0.99$              Salary M Q2 14,204.54$              

7 Fringe Q2 6,330.64$                

8 Printing   Salary Q3 R

9 Jan‐March 28.49$            Total 1,389.50$       Salary Q3 M

10 April‐June 1.67 Fringe Q3

11 July‐Sept. Communication ‐ Internal Salary Q4 R

12 Oct.‐Dec. Network Jan.‐March 589.5 Salary Q4 M

13 Total 30.16$            Network April‐June 589.50 Fringe Q4

14 Network July‐Sept. 393.75

15 Office Supplies Network Oct.‐Dec. Total 44,405.80$             

16 Total 1,572.75$      

17

18 Communication 

19 Total ‐$               

20 Total ‐$                

21 Contractual

22 Fishbeck 2/13/24 1,142.50$       Travel

23 Fishbeck 3/12/24 627.50$          Staff Q1 Travel Invoice 61.71

24 Fishbeck 3/31/24 1,120.00$      

25 Fishbeck 5/13/24 922.50$         

26 Fishbeck 6/18/24 1,772.00$       Total 61.71$            

27 Fishbeck 7/9/24 800.00$         

28 Fishbeck 8/13/24 1,138.00$      

29 Fishbeck 9/12/24 2,024.75$      Marketing

30 Total 9,547.25$      

31 Total ‐$                

32 Contractual Op.

33 Fishbeck 8/13/24 210.00$          Employee Training

34 Fishbeck 9/12/24 273.00$         State of Economic Dev  99.00$            

35 Total 483.00$          Total 99.00$            

36

37 Site Study Miscellaneous

38

39 Total ‐$                

40

41 Total ‐$                Indirect Cost alloc. ‐$                

42

43 Interest Expense

44 Total 0.00

45 Total Expenses 57,590.16$  

46

47 Estimated KCBRA Fund amounts with Encumbrances & TIR Held for Reimbursements

48 Fund 243 General Fund 3,904,806

49 Fund 242 LBRF  4,529,286

Item 8 a

50



FUND 247

MWalters 9‐23‐2024

1

2 MUNIS Actual

3 2023 BRA TOTAL YEAR END 4,455,282.02 0.00 4,455,282 4,455,282 4,455,282.02

4 ESTIMATED BALANCE AS OF 9/19/24 $3,997,249.13

5 BRA Fund 243 for 2023 (Formerly Fund 247) Revenues Expenses
Estimated 

Pending reimb. REV‐EXP

6 County BRA (acct 24370300‐)  57,590.16 ‐57,590.16

7 Dividends 106,125.06 106,125.06

8 Service Fees (application fee payments) 5,000.00

9 3rd Party Reimbursements 31,648.51
10 Midlink local TIR tax (acct 24370301‐420.00) 209,989.74 209,989.74

11 Midlink school TIR tax (acct 24370301‐420.01) 0

12 Midlink Admin chg

13 General Mills local TIR (acct 24370304‐420.00) 55,760.34 55,760

14 General Mills school TIR (acct 24370304‐420.01) 0

15 General Mills Admin chg

16 9008 Portage Road local TIR (acct 24370303‐420.00) 4,411.79 4,159.00 253

17 9008 Portage Road school TIR (acct 24370303‐420.01) 3,247.64 2,834.64 413

18 9008 Portage Road Admin Chg

19 555 E. Eliza St. Local TIR (24370306‐420.00) 438.14 438

20 555 E. Eliza St. School TIR (24370306‐420.01) 0

21 555 E. Eliza St. Admin Chg

22 232 LLC (24370307‐420.00)   5,785.97 5,595.01 191

23 232 LLC Admin. Chg

24 Blackbird Billiards local TIR (24370308‐420.00) 615.76 1,015.19 ‐399

25 Blackbird Billiards School TIR (24370308‐420.01) 718.50 ‐718.50

26 Blackbird Billiards Admin Chg

27 Kalamazoo West Prof Ctr Local TIR (24370310‐010)  4,765.48 4,608.20 157.28

28 Kalamazoo West Admin. Chg

29 Metal Mechanics Local TIR (24370311‐420.00) 2,227.43 5,224.57 ‐2,997

30 Metal Mechanics School TIR (24370311‐420.01) 0

31 Metal Mechanics Admin. Chg.

32 Scanell/Project Spartan Local TIR (24370318‐420.00) 103,887.48 103,887

33 Scanell/Project Spartan School TIR (24370318‐420.01) 0

34 Scanell/Project Spartan Admin. Chg.

35 Stryker Local (24370313‐420.00) 191,631.41 1,142,509.04 ‐950,878

36 Stryker School (24370313‐420.01) 591,697.67 ‐591,698

37 Stryker Admin. Chg

38 Stadium Park Way Local (24370314‐420.00) 134,880.26 134,880

39 Stadium Park Way School (24370314‐420.01) 0

40 Stadium Park Way Admin Chg

41 383 S. Pitcher St Local TIR (24370315‐420.00) 14,718.20 13,918.09 800

42 383 S. Pitcher School TIR (24370315‐420.01) 9,524.73 8,317.73 1,207

43 383 S. Pitcher Admin Chg

44 Vickburg Mill (24370316)

45 Vicksburg Mill Admin. Chg

46 Delta Marriott (24370317) Local TIR 54,491.94

47 Delta Marriott School TIR 

48 Delta Marriott Admin. Chg

49 2 and 10 Mills St. (Environmental Work)

50 Graphic Packaging Local TIR (24370319‐420.00) 270,711.15 270,711

51 Graphic Packaging School TIR (24370319‐420.01) 166,589.56 166,590

52 Graphic Packaging Admin Chg

53 IPUSA Local TIR (24370320‐420.00)

54 IPUSA State TIR (24370320‐420.01)

55 IPUSA Admin. Charge

56 KALSEE Credit Union Local TIR (24370321‐420.00) 27,336.83 12,133.05

57 KALSEE Credit Union State TIR (24370321‐420.01) 11,499.46

58 KALSEE Credit Union Admin. Charge

59 615 W. Kalamazoo Ave. (Environmental work) 12,619.63

60 619 Porter St. (Environmental work) correction from 8/22/24 

61

62 BRA ACTUAL TOTAL 2024 AS OF 9/19/2024 1,403,787.42 1,861,820.31 ‐  ‐458,033 ‐458,033 3,997,249

63

64

65 2020‐24 Pending remaining of approved Work Orders & Other Expenses

66 General Fund

67 WO#17 ‐ Gen Env. Consulting, Ammend. #1 85 unused in 2017

68 WO#2018‐1 ‐ General Env. Consulting 20 unused in 2018

69 WO#19 ‐ Checker Motors MDEQ SSA grant application $1179 + $58 application

70

71 WO# 2018‐2  ET Annual Report Assisstance 25 unused in 2018

72 WO# 2018‐3 Website Assisstance ‐Envirologic 42.5 unused in 2018

73 Web Hosting (annual expense) 300

74 WO# 2019‐1 General Environmental Consulting 1,516.25 unused in 2019

75 WO# 2019‐3 General Env. Review 2018 Annual report 447.50 unused in 2019

76 WO# 2020‐1 General Environmental Review ET 7,273.75 unused in 2020

77 WO#2021‐1 General Env. + Admin. Envirologic 16,393.75 unused in 2021

78 WO#2022‐1 General Environmental + admin 11,722.50 unused in 2022

79 WO#2023‐1 General Environmental + Admin 6,780.44 unused in 2023

80 WO #2024‐1 General Environmental + Admin 9,969.75 Remaining amount in W.O.

81 Fund 243 (247) Work Order TOTAL 10,269.75 3,987,279

83 Local Brownfield Revolving Fund 242 Revenues Expenses

84 Dividends Summary for 2024 95,105 Michigan CLASS $4.6M

85 440 LLC ‐ Funding Request 0.00 Remaining amount in W.O.

86 WO#2021‐2 3800 Wynn Rd General Env. 6,832.02 Remaining amount in W.O. 4,529,286

WO#2023‐2 YWCA VMI system (GRA) 20,180.83 Remaining amount in W.O.

WO#2023‐3 436 W. Willard Street (LRA) 0.00 Remaining amount in W.O.

530 S. Rose Street Project (GRA) 86,896.74

555 Eliza Street/ Lee Street Expansion (LRA) 394,500.00

91 Fund 242 (643) Work Order Total  508,409.59

93 518,679.34

Estimated totals for Projects w/ Pending Invoice Packets not yet submitted for Eligible Expenses to Developers (with required documentation):

Delta Marriott Invoices (estimated) 82,473.15

IPUSA (TBD)

100 Island Ave., LLC (TBD)

ESTIMATED Total Remaining (w/remaining encumbrances TBD) 3,904,806.23

total work orders & other expenses from both accounts

51



KCBRA Fund 242 Local Brownfield Revolving Fund

9/19/24

Local Brownfield Revolving Fund ‐ Fund 242

 (Previously Fund 643) Revenues Expenditures REV‐EXP
LBRF From 2014 7,416.84 7,416.84

Transferred from Brown 7/6/2015 5,659.48 5,659.48

Transferred from Brown 12/31/2015 5,299.28 5,299.28

Transferred from Brown 8/2/2016 6,479.70 6,479.70

 Transfer from Brown 12/15/16 6,314.00 6,314.00

Transfer from Brown 7/27/17 6,984.90 6,984.90

Transfer from Brown 1/18/18 6,478.34 6,478.34

Transfer from Brown approved 5/24/18 ‐ actual 8/16/18 8,607.43 8,607.43

Transfer from Corner @ Drake Actual 8/16/18 29,537.26 29,537.26

Transfer Corner @ Drake remaining 2018 8/2/19 32,737.66 32,737.66

Transfer Corner @ Drake (‐ reimb MTT Costco) 8/2/19 158,072.02 158,072.02

Transfer from Brown 8/2/19 11,262.63 11,262.63

Transfer from Metal Mechanics 10/14/19 2,309.82 2,309.82

Transfer from Metal Mechanics School 4/16/20 677.85 677.85

Transfer from Corner @ Drake 7/15/20 211,427.30 211,427.30

 Envirologic WO#31 E. Frank and N. Pitcher St 11/23/20 2,966.13 ‐2,966.13

Envirologic WO#2020‐3 315 Frank St. Phase IIESA 12/1/20 4,516.58 ‐4,516.58

Envirologic WO#2020‐3 315 Frank St. Phase IIESA 12/31/20  7,901.92 ‐7,901.92

Envirologic WO#2020‐3 315 Frank St. Phase IIESA 1/28/21  235.00 ‐235.00

Transfer from Corner @ Drake 7/22/21 243,109.06 243,109.06

Transfer from 2747 S. 11th Street ‐ Delta Marriott 9/27/21 2,100.00 2,100.00

Transfer from Metal Mechanics 9/27/21 632.18 632.18

Transfer from RAI Jets 10/28/21 11,148.99 11,148.99

Envirologic WO#2021‐2 3800 Wynn  Road Phase II ESA 11,504.87 ‐11,504.87

Envirologic WO#2021‐2 3800 Wynn  Road Phase II ESA 308.51 ‐308.51

Envirologic WO#2021‐2 3800 Wynn  Road Phase II ESA 1,102.50 ‐1,102.50

Envirologic WO#2021‐2 3800 Wynn  Road Phase II ESA 897.00 ‐897.00

Envirologic WO#2021‐2 3800 Wynn  Road Phase II ESA 130.00 ‐130.00

Transfer from Midlink 2/24/22 394,228.36 394,228.36

Tansfer from General  Mills 2/24/22 310,467.33 310,467.33

Transfer from RAI Jets 4/29/22 13,871.91 13,871.91

Transfer from Corner @ Drake 4/29/22 217,535.53 217,535.53

Transfer from Metal Mechanics 6/23/22 2,332.92 2,332.92

Envirologic WO#2021‐2 3800 Wynn Road BEA Due Care 225.00 ‐225.00

Transfer from Scannell 9/22/22 9,245.50 9,245.50

Transfer from General Mills 11/17/22 48,943.82 48,943.82

440 NC, LLC invoice packet  5/25/23 15,000.00 ‐15,000.00

Transfer from 9008 Portage Road 8/24/23 458.41

Transfer from RAI Jets pending 8/24/23 9,033.35

Trasfer from Stadium Park Way  8/24/23 57,124.21

Transfer from Stryker (2 payments) 10/26/23 2,254,385.84

Transfer from Midlink Business Park 10/26/23 776,830.38

Fishbeck WO#2023‐3 436 W. Willard Street 2/22/24 13,707.93

Fishbeck WO#2023‐2 YWCA 3/13/2024 87,897.02

Fishbeck WO #2023‐2 YWCA 4/10/2024 1,384.65

Fishbeck WO# 2023‐3 436 W. Willard Street 4/10/2024 10,292.01

Dividends from Michigan CLASS investment $4.6 M 4/30/24 10,865.65

Dividends from Michigan CLASS investment $4.6 M 5/31/24 21,086.11

Dividends from Michigan CLASS investment $4.6 M 6/30/24 20,503.72

Fishbeck WO #2023‐2 YWCA 7/9/2024 537.50

Dividends from Michigan CLASS investment $4.6 M 7/31/24 21,345.92

Transfer from KALSEE Credit Union 8/22/24 2,036.46

Transfer from Stryker 8/22/24 245,614.16

Dividends from Michigan CLASS investment $4.6 M 8/31/24 21,303.34

Transfer from 9008 Portage Road 9/26/23 2,834.64

Subtotals 5,196,302.30 158,606.62 5,037,695.68

5,037,695.68$    

Estimated amount less encumbrances 4,529,286  See Expense Detail 2024 for outstanding workorders 

Total Dividend Deposits for 2024 Year to Date 95,104.74

Fund 242 TOTAL to date

Item 8 b

52



1

Macy R. Walters

From: MEDC - Do Not Reply <noreply@michigan.org>
Sent: Thursday, September 19, 2024 1:59 PM
To: Macy R. Walters
Subject: 2023 Brownfield Reporting Submission

    CAUTION: This email originated from outside of the organiza on. Do not click links or open a achments unless you 
recognize the sender and know the content is safe. 

Thank you for submi ng your 2023 report(s) via the online portal for your Brownfield Redevelopment Authority. The 
County of Kalamazoo BRA is now compliant for this repor ng cycle. Please let me know if you have any ques ons or 
comments on the repor ng process. Thank you! 

Regards, 
Lori LaPerriere 
Program Specialist 
Community Development 

Michigan Economic Development Corpora on 
300 N. Washington Square  Lansing MI 48913 
Office: 517.335.8126 
laperrierel@michigan.org 

Staff Update

53



���������	�
�
�������
������
��
����
�����	���������������� ��!�"��# $%&&&&'()*)+,���#-��.�/ � 0 1����!�234����5!�"��#���, ���� ��6� �7�8&89 :�;0<##��8=8&8(>?@ABCD�EBDFGHI
J.�-���K L��M "#����� # �#����"��#N�O P�, "#����:# #�Q�0�Q#���R�M#�#K #�, "#����:# �#�����, "#���S!�<0;��Q�0��#�M�0"��#�TUV@WXD�FXY�>W?Z@IB�@[�\F]�̂XC?BVBXD�_B̀BXWB�a\̂_b�cde_U

f
����
g�f�h�����3��i���5j+N)k=Y [ YG c

l�
m���n��898N�oo, ����p�
q�r�5�l����s���
�5��t�9N�8&''u
����v��w�l���xl�
m���y���35z�	{u	�l�|s���
�5�s�������zf�h�����3��2���3z}, "#����Q# �#�� l�
m���2���3z},��Q#��M#<���,�0"��#�
s�
3���
g�2����	53����
��f�h�����3�i���5j& s�
3���
g�u
����y2��2���r�|f�h�fyi�i���5}j&s�
3���
g�2��

��v��������f�h�����3�i���5j& s�
3���
g�u
����y2��s5�~��
���fyi�i���5}j'N&+&s�
3���
g�u
����f�h�����3��i���5}j(N)9= y2���
5}9*&&&y2���
5��

54



���������	�
������������������	������������
��������������� �!"#�$#%&'!"(#&#)�(*+,-./��0���������1���	�2��3��0���������1����������	��������������������4)5%"�)&#)�����)6�7�)84)5%"�)&#)���$#%&'!"(#6*9�		������1�����:�;���������0�����<�:�=��������;��0����>������ �!"#6�����'�#�?��!#

@&�!)�����A���#������� �!"#����B#$#%&'!"(#6C*9 @&�!)�����D�E���@6&%)����B#�$#%&'!"(#6C*FGF@&�!)�����D�E��������� �!"#����B#$#%&'!"(#6C*9 @&�!)�����D�E���H)�I������� �!"#����B#$#%&'!"(#6C*+,+G+@&�!)�����DB$J����B#�$#%&'!"(#6C*9 @&�!)�����AB$J����B#�$#%&'!"(#6C*9
K4LD4M�@&�!)�����4)5%"�)&#)���������� �!"#���B#�$#%&'!"(#6C*9 KNAJM�@&�!)�����7�)84)5%"�)&#)��������� �!"#�$#%&'!"(#6C*9
@&�!)������"#�(!"I��O$�KJ�"&�PQRSMC*9 @&�!)������"#�(!"I��O$�KJ�"&�RTUQB$MC*9�!""#)������'�#�?��!#C*VW.,V+/ X"%)E% ����)6�O)�#"#(���)�����H!�(��)6%)YO)6#'�#6)#((C*9

55



��������	
�������
���������������
�
��������������������

 !"#$%�&'�($)*+$,-*./�0,*-)�1&,)-%!2-$+�&%($3.#*/*-.-$+45 67!.%$�8$$-�&'�($)*+$,-*./4��9�967!.%$�8$$-�&'�($-.*/49 67!.%$�8$$-�&'�1&""$%2*./4���9967!.%$�8$$-�&'�:,+!)-%*./49 67!.%$�8$$-�&'�;!#/*2�:,'%.)-%!2-!%$49<*,$.%�8$$-�&'�;!#/*2�:,'%.)-%!2-!%$49  $=�>&#)�1%$.-$+49?2-!./�1.@*-./�:,A$)-"$,-4���9�999 B&$)�-3*)�C:8�2.@-!%$�&A$%/.@�=*-3�.,D�&-3$%.#.-$"$,-E4FGH?++*-*&,./�:,'&%".-*&,IJG�KLMNGOP�MQGLRSKH�TUPJ�PJG�VUPW�MX�YSRSZS[MM�\\]�OSKP̂LG�_̂P�PJGLG�TSH��9�Ù�\\]�OSKP̂LG�a9a�b:�2$%-*'D�-3.-�-&�-3$�#$)-�&'�"D�c,&=/$+d$�-3$�*,'&%".-*&,�)!#"*--$+�*,�-3*)�%$@&%-�*)�-%!$�.,+2&%%$2-ef6!#"*--$+�gDhSOW�iSRPGLH 6!#"*--$+�B.-$]̂j�a5��a9a�
56



���������	�
�
�������
������
��
����
�����	���������������� ��!�"��# $%&&&&'()*))+���#,��-�. � / 0����!�123����4!�"��#���+ ���� ��5� �6�7&78 9�:/;##��7<7&7(=>?@ABC�DACEFGH
I-�,���J K��L "#����� # �#����"��#M�N O�+ "#����9# #�P�/�P#���Q�L#�#J #�+ "#����9# �#�����+ "#���R!�;/:��P�/��#�L�/"��#�STU?VWC�EWX�=V>Y?HA�?Z�[E\�]WB>AUAWC�̂A_AWVA�̀[]̂a�bcd̂ T

e
����
f�e�g�����2��h���4i7(M7(8X Z XF b

j�
k���l��8m8�9S�n;#LJ���9#���# ����o�
p�q�4�j����r���
�4�"��(M�7&')s
����t��u�j���vj�
k���w���24x�	ys	�j�zr���
�4�r�������xe�g�����2��1���2x{+ "#����P# �#�� j�
k���1���2x{|�����+��P#��L#;��
r�
2���
f�1����	42����
��e�g�����2�h���4i7M('( r�
2���
f�s
����w1��1���q�ze�g�ewh�h���4{i&r�
2���
f�1��

��t��������e�g�����2�h���4i)M''' r�
2���
f�s
����w1��r4�}��
���ewh�h���4{i7Mm'(r�
2���
f�s
����e�g�����2��h���4{i''M*&( w1���
4{8*&&&w1���
4�~

57



���������	�
������������������	������������
��������������� �!"#�$#%&'!"(#&#)�(*+,-+,.��/���������0���	�1��2��/���������0����������	��������������������3)4%"�)&#)�����)5�6�)73)4%"�)&#)���$#%&'!"(#5*++-+.8�		������0�����9�:���������/�����;�9�<��������:��/����=������ �!"#5�����'�#�>��!#

?&�!)�����@���#������� �!"#����A#$#%&'!"(#5B*C-.DC ?&�!)�����E�F���?5&%)����A#�$#%&'!"(#5B*CGG?&�!)�����E�F��������� �!"#����A#$#%&'!"(#5B*D.-HDC ?&�!)�����E�F���I)�J������� �!"#����A#$#%&'!"(#5B*G?&�!)�����EA$K����A#�$#%&'!"(#5B*G ?&�!)�����@A$K����A#�$#%&'!"(#5B*D-+GL
M3NE3O�?&�!)�����3)4%"�)&#)���������� �!"#���A#�$#%&'!"(#5B*D.-HDC MP@KO�?&�!)�����6�)73)4%"�)&#)��������� �!"#�$#%&'!"(#5B*C-.DC
?&�!)������"#�(!"J��Q$�MK�"&�RSTUOB*G ?&�!)������"#�(!"J��Q$�MK�"&�TVWSA$OB*G�!""#)������'�#�>��!#B*8G+-LGG X"%)F% ����)5�Q)�#"#(���)�����I!�(��)5%)YQ)5#'�#5)#((B*G

58



�����������	
���
���������������
�
�
������������������
���

��� !"#$%!&'(!)*'+,-)'*&.#)&*"�/*!(#"%!0+ ','*+*!(1� 23�+"!4!!*#$%!&'(!)*'+,1�23�+"!4!!*#$%!*+',1� 23�+"!4!!*#$.#��!"/'+,15����23�+"!4!!*#$6)(�&*"'+,178���� 23�+"!4!!*#$9� ,'/6)$"+&*"�/*�"!1�:')!+"4!!*#$9� ,'/6)$"+&*"�/*�"!1;�5 �!<=# &."!+*!(1>?@/*�+,.+A'*+,6)B!&*�!)*1���5>��8�8 C#!&*0'&D64/+A*�"!#B!",+A<'*0+)E#*0!"+ +*!�!)*F1GH@(('*'#)+,6)$#"�+*'#)6/!"*'$E*0+**#*0! !&*#$�EI)#<,!(J!*0!')$#"�+*'#)&� �'**!(')*0'&"!A#"*'&*"�!+)(/#""!/*KL2� �'**!(MENOPQROSTUVW 2� �'**!(C+*!XYZ>��>�>;
59



���������	�
�
�������
������
��
����
�����	���������������� ��!�"��# $%&&&&'()*)+,���#-��.�/ � 0 1����!�234����5!�"��#���, ���� ��6� �7�8&89 :�;0<##��8)8&8(=>?@ABC�DACEFGH
I.�-���J K��L "#����� # �#����"��#M�N O�, "#����:# #�P�0�P#���Q�L#�#J #�, "#����:# �#�����, "#���R!�<0;��P�0��#�L�0"��#�STU?VWC�EWX�=V>Y?HA�?Z�[E\�]WB>AUAWC�̂A_AWVA�̀[]̂a�bcd̂ T

e
����
f�e�g�����3��h���5i)+'X Z XF b

j�
k���l��mmm�nS�n�<1 �:#���# ����o�
p�q�5�j����r���
�5s�L�'tM�8&'(u
����v��w�j���xj�
k���y���35z�	{u	�j�|r���
�5�r�������ze�g�����3��2���3z}, "#����P# �#�� j�
k���2���3z}~�����,��P#��L#<��
r�
3���
f�2����	53����
��e�g�����3�h���5it) r�
3���
f�u
����y2��2���q�|e�g�eyh�h���5}i&r�
3���
f�2��

��v��������e�g�����3�h���5i8(m r�
3���
f�u
����y2��r5����
���eyh�h���5}i*mr�
3���
f�u
����e�g�����3��h���5}i9)( y2���
5}9*&&&y2���
5��

60



���������	�
������������������	������������
��������������� �!"#�$#%&'!"(#&#)�(*+,-��.���������/���	�0��1��.���������/����������	��������������������2)3%"�)&#)�����)4�5�)62)3%"�)&#)���$#%&'!"(#4*+,-�		������/�����7�8���������.�����9�7�:��������8��.����;������ �!"#4�����'�#�<��!#

=&�!)�����>���#������� �!"#����?#$#%&'!"(#4@*A+, =&�!)�����B�C���=4&%)����?#�$#%&'!"(#4@*AD=&�!)�����B�C��������� �!"#����?#$#%&'!"(#4@*EEF =&�!)�����B�C���G)�H������� �!"#����?#$#%&'!"(#4@*I=&�!)�����B?$J����?#�$#%&'!"(#4@*I =&�!)�����>?$J����?#�$#%&'!"(#4@*FE
K2LB2M�=&�!)�����2)3%"�)&#)���������� �!"#���?#�$#%&'!"(#4@*+,- KN>JM�=&�!)�����5�)62)3%"�)&#)��������� �!"#�$#%&'!"(#4@*I
=&�!)������"#�(!"H��O$�KJ�"&�PQRSM@*I =&�!)������"#�(!"H��O$�KJ�"&�RTUQ?$M@*I�!""#)������'�#�<��!#@*-IAVFE- W"%)C% ����)4�O)�#"#(���)�����G!�(��)4%)XO)4#'�#4)#((@*-YAVD,I

61



��������	
���������������������

���������	���������

�� !"#�$%�&"'()"*+(,-�.*(+'�/$*'+#�0+")�$#&"1,!(-(+,+")23 45�,#"�6""+�$%�&"'()"*+(,-2345�,#"�6""+�$%�&"+,(-23 45�,#"�6""+�$%�/$  "#0(,-2345�,#"�6""+�$%�7*)�'+#(,-2�33�333 45�,#"�6""+�$%�8�!-(0�7*%#,'+#�0+�#"239(*",#�6""+�$%�8�!-(0�7*%#,'+#�0+�#"23 �":�;$!'�/#",+")2��<0+�,-�/,=(+,-�7*>"'+ "*+2���3���333 ?$"'�+1('�@76�0,=+�#"�$>"#-,=�:(+1�,*A�$+1"#,!,+" "*+B2CD<))(+($*,-�7*%$# ,+($*EFGE�HIJKLMHNIKIOP�JN�LIJOQ�RIST�UDH�HIVWXKIOP�DU�EFGE�SDWOY�ZRI�VHDVIHPX�RWN�LIIO�[DH\JOQ�DO�WO�I]VWONJDO�WOT�JP�JN�WOPĴJVWPIT�PRI�VWĤISN�[JSS�LI�̂DKLJOIT�DH�HIPJHIT�UDH�OI]P�PW]�NIWNDO��[JPR�LDPR�VWĤISN�HITI_ISDVITY�̀JHNP�VWXKIOP�PD�EFGE�[WN�KWTI�WUPIH�WOOMWS�HIVDHPN�[IHI�TMIY7�0"#+(%A�+1,+�+$�+1"�!"'+�$%� A�a*$:-")b"�+1"�(*%$# ,+($*�'�! (++")�(*�+1('�#"=$#+�('�+#�"�,*)0$##"0+cd4�! (++")�eAfŴX�gWSPIHN 4�! (++")�?,+"hMQ�ij��i3ik
62



���������	�
�
�������
������
��
����
�����	���������������� ��!�"��# $%&&&&'()*)*+���#,��-�. � / 0����!�123����4!�"��#���+ ���� ��5� �6�7&78 9�:/;##��7<7&7(=>?@ABC�DACEFGH
I-�,���J K��L "#����� # �#����"��#M�N O�+ "#����9# #�P�/�P#���Q�L#�#J #�+ "#����9# �#�����+ "#���R!�;/:��P�/��#�L�/"��#�STU?VWC�EWX�=V>Y?HA�?Z�[E\�]WB>AUAWC�̂A_AWVA�̀[]̂a�bcd̂ T

e
����
f�e�g�����2��h���4i)M<<&X Z XF b

j�
k���l��*&&m�n��# o��!� � ����p�
q�r�4�j����s���
�4t�L�8M�7&'8u
����v��w�j���xj�
k���y���24z�	{u	�j�|s���
�4�s�������ze�g�����2��1���2z}+ "#����P# �#�� j�
k���1���2z}+��P#��L#;���+�/"��#�
s�
2���
f�1����	42����
��e�g�����2�h���4im7) s�
2���
f�u
����y1��1���r�|e�g�eyh�h���4}i&s�
2���
f�1��

��v��������e�g�����2�h���4i7M(7' s�
2���
f�u
����y1��s4�~��
���eyh�h���4}i*<(s�
2���
f�u
����e�g�����2��h���4}i8M((m y1���
4}8*&&&y1���
4��

63



���������	�
������������������	������������
��������������� �!"#�$#%&'!"(#&#)�(*+,--.��/���������0���	�1��2��/���������0����������	��������������������3)4%"�)&#)�����)5�6�)73)4%"�)&#)���$#%&'!"(#5*8,9:;�		������0�����<�=���������/�����>�<�?��������=��/����@������ �!"#5�����'�#�A��!#

B&�!)�����C���#������� �!"#����D#$#%&'!"(#5E*. B&�!)�����F�G���B5&%)����D#�$#%&'!"(#5E*H:IB&�!)�����F�G��������� �!"#����D#$#%&'!"(#5E*8,9:; B&�!)�����F�G���J)�K������� �!"#����D#$#%&'!"(#5E*.B&�!)�����FD$L����D#�$#%&'!"(#5E*H,MI: B&�!)�����CD$L����D#�$#%&'!"(#5E*89I
N3OF3P�B&�!)�����3)4%"�)&#)���������� �!"#���D#�$#%&'!"(#5E*8,9:; NQCLP�B&�!)�����6�)73)4%"�)&#)��������� �!"#�$#%&'!"(#5E*.
B&�!)������"#�(!"K��R$�NL�"&�STUVPE*. B&�!)������"#�(!"K��R$�NL�"&�UWXTD$PE*.�!""#)������'�#�A��!#E*98-,-88 Y"%)G% ����)5�R)�#"#(���)�����J!�(��)5%)ZR)5#'�#5)#((E*.

64



���������	
�������	���������������
��	�������
�����������

� !"#$�%&�'#()*#+,)-.�/+),(�0%+(,$ 1,#*�%$'#2-").),-,#*3� 45 -$#�6##,�%&�'#()*#+,)-.3�45 -$#�6##,�%&�'#,-).3��78� 45 -$#�6##,�%&�0%!!#$1)-.3�45 -$#�6##,�%&�9+* (,$)-.3� 45 -$#�6##,�%&�: ".)1�9+&$-(,$ 1, $#3��;)+#-$�6##,�%&�: ".)1�9+&$-(,$ 1, $#3� �#<�=%"(�0$#-,#*3�7>1, -.�0-?),-.�9+@#(,!#+,3�8A����� B%#(�,2)(�C96�1-?, $#�%@#$.-?�<),2�-+D�%,2#$-"-,#!#+,E3FG>**),)%+-.�9+&%$!-,)%+9�1#$,)&D�,2-,�,%�,2#�"#(,�%&�!D�H+%<.#*I#�,2#�)+&%$!-,)%+�( "!),,#*�)+�,2)(�$#?%$,�)(�,$ #�-+*1%$$#1,JK4 "!),,#*�LDMNOP�QNRSTUV 4 "!),,#*�B-,#WXY�8Z��8�87
65



���������	�
�
�������
������
��
����
�����	���������������� ��!�"��# $%&&&&'()*+&,���#-��.�/ � 0 1����!�234����5!�"��#���, ���� ��6� �7�8&89 :�;0<##��8=8&8(>?@ABCD�EBDFGHI
J.�-���K L��M "#����� # �#����"��#N�O P�, "#����:# #�Q�0�Q#���R�M#�#K #�, "#����:# �#�����, "#���S!�<0;��Q�0��#�M�0"��#�TUV@WXD�FXY�>W?Z@IB�@[�\F]�̂XC?BVBXD�_B̀BXWB�a\̂_b�cde_U

f
����
g�f�h�����3��i���5j'N*&+Y [ YG c

k�
l���m���� Mn;<����<��< ��Q ����o�
p�q�5�k����r���
�5s�M�'tN�8&'tu
����v��w�k���xk�
l���y���35z�	{u	�k�|r���
�5�r�������zf�h�����3��2���3z}, "#����Q# �#�� k�
l���2���3z},��Q#��M#<���,�0"��#�
r�
3���
g�2����	53����
��f�h�����3�i���5j8&= r�
3���
g�u
����y2��2���q�|f�h�fyi�i���5}j&r�
3���
g�2��

��v��������f�h�����3�i���5j='t r�
3���
g�u
����y2��r5�~��
���fyi�i���5}j8(8r�
3���
g�u
����f�h�����3��i���5}j+(t y2���
5}9*&&&y2���
5��&

66



���������	�
������������������	������������
��������������� �!"#�$#%&'!"(#&#)�(*+,-./��0���������1���	�2��3��0���������1����������	��������������������4)5%"�)&#)�����)6�7�)84)5%"�)&#)���$#%&'!"(#6*+,9:;�		������1�����<�=���������0�����>�<�?��������=��0����@������ �!"#6�����'�#�A��!#

B&�!)�����C���#������� �!"#����D#$#%&'!"(#6E*9+- B&�!)�����F�G���B6&%)����D#�$#%&'!"(#6E*9+B&�!)�����F�G��������� �!"#����D#$#%&'!"(#6E*+,.+H B&�!)�����F�G���I)�J������� �!"#����D#$#%&'!"(#6E*.B&�!)�����FD$K����D#�$#%&'!"(#6E*. B&�!)�����CD$K����D#�$#%&'!"(#6E*+.:
L4MF4N�B&�!)�����4)5%"�)&#)���������� �!"#���D#�$#%&'!"(#6E*+,9:; LOCKN�B&�!)�����7�)84)5%"�)&#)��������� �!"#�$#%&'!"(#6E*.
B&�!)������"#�(!"J��P$�LK�"&�QRSTNE*. B&�!)������"#�(!"J��P$�LK�"&�SUVRD$NE*.�!""#)������'�#�A��!#E*;W,/-; X"%)G% ����)6�P)�#"#(���)�����I!�(��)6%)YP)6#'�#6)#((E*.

67



����������	
���
���������������
�
�
������������������
���

��� !"#$%!&'(!)*'+,-)'*&.#)&*"�/*!(#"%!0+ ','*+*!(12 34�+"!5!!*#$%!&'(!)*'+,1234�+"!5!!*#$%!*+',12 34�+"!5!!*#$.#��!"/'+,1��67234�+"!5!!*#$8)(�&*"'+,12 34�+"!5!!*#$9� ,'/8)$"+&*"�/*�"!12:')!+"5!!*#$9� ,'/8)$"+&*"�/*�"!12 �!;<# &."!+*!(16=/*�+,.+>'*+,8)?!&*�!)*1�722�222 @#!&*0'&A85/+>*�"!#?!",+>;'*0+)B#*0!"+ +*!�!)*C1DEF=(('*'#)+,8)$#"�+*'#)GHIJKHIJFLHLEMENEMLEOPMQPEMLRQNEMSHPFT2UT2VWLEIOEO726�X8/!"*'$B*0+**#*0! !&*#$�BY)#;,!(Z!*0!')$#"�+*'#)&� �'**!(')*0'&"!>#"*'&*"�!+)(/#""!/*[\3� �'**!(]B^H_R̀HSLEMF 3� �'**!(@+*!aWb7c�727�
68



���������	�
�
�������
������
��
����
�����	���������������� ��!�"��# $%&&&&'()*)+,���#-��.�/ � 0 1����!�234����5!�"��#���, ���� ��6� �7�8&89 :�;0<##��8)8&8(=>?@ABC�DACEFGH
I.�-���J K��L "#����� # �#����"��#M�N O�, "#����:# #�P�0�P#���Q�L#�#J #�, "#����:# �#�����, "#���R!�<0;��P�0��#�L�0"��#�STU?VWC�EWX�=V>Y?HA�?Z�[E\�]WB>AUAWC�̂A_AWVA�̀[]̂a�bcd̂ T

e
����
f�e�g�����3��h���5ij(M(*8X Z XF b

k�
l���m��8)()�:S�''#J�:#S�n"��K<��P�o��<� -�p ��P�����<� ����q�
r�s�5�k����t���
�5u�;�+M�8&'vw
����x��y�k���zk�
l���{���35|�	}w	�k�~t���
�5�t�������|e�g�����3��2���3|�, "#����P# �#�� k�
l���2���3|�,��P#��L#<���,�0"��#�
t�
3���
f�2����	53����
��e�g�����3�h���5i& t�
3���
f�w
����{2��2���s�~e�g�e{h�h���5�i&t�
3���
f�2��

��x��������e�g�����3�h���5i& t�
3���
f�w
����{2��t5����
���e{h�h���5�i'jM+*'t�
3���
f�w
����e�g�����3��h���5�i9vMv&' {2���
5�9*&&&{2���
5��

69



���������	�
������������������	������������
��������������� �!"#�$#%&'!"(#&#)�(*+,-,./��0���������1���	�2��3��0���������1����������	��������������������4)5%"�)&#)�����)6�7�)84)5%"�)&#)���$#%&'!"(#6*9�		������1�����:�;���������0�����<�:�=��������;��0����>������ �!"#6�����'�#�?��!#

@&�!)�����A���#������� �!"#����B#$#%&'!"(#6C*9 @&�!)�����D�E���@6&%)����B#�$#%&'!"(#6C*F-FFG@&�!)�����D�E��������� �!"#����B#$#%&'!"(#6C*9 @&�!)�����D�E���H)�I������� �!"#����B#$#%&'!"(#6C*+J-JKG@&�!)�����DB$L����B#�$#%&'!"(#6C*9 @&�!)�����AB$L����B#�$#%&'!"(#6C*9
M4ND4O�@&�!)�����4)5%"�)&#)���������� �!"#���B#�$#%&'!"(#6C*9 MPALO�@&�!)�����7�)84)5%"�)&#)��������� �!"#�$#%&'!"(#6C*9
@&�!)������"#�(!"I��Q$�ML�"&�RSTUOC*9 @&�!)������"#�(!"I��Q$�ML�"&�TVWSB$OC*9�!""#)������'�#�?��!#C*+-+G,-,/9 X"%)E% ����)6�Q)�#"#(���)�����H!�(��)6%)YQ)6#'�#6)#((C*9

70



�����������	
�������	���������������
��	�������
�����������

� !"#$�%&�'#()*#+,)-.�/+),(�0%+(,$ 1,#*�%$'#2-").),-,#*34 56 -$#�7##,�%&�'#()*#+,)-.3456 -$#�7##,�%&�'#,-).34 56 -$#�7##,�%&�0%!!#$1)-.3456 -$#�7##,�%&�8+* (,$)-.3�4�444 56 -$#�7##,�%&�9 ".)1�8+&$-(,$ 1, $#34:)+#-$�7##,�%&�9 ".)1�8+&$-(,$ 1, $#34 �#;�<%"(�0$#-,#*3�=1, -.�0->),-.�8+?#(,!#+,3���@�@��@A B%#(�,2)(�C87�1->, $#�%?#$.->�;),2�-+D�%,2#$-"-,#!#+,E3FG=**),)%+-.�8+&%$!-,)%+HIJIKGLIM�NG�OI�MIPQORMSIT�NUMGRVU�KGWXK�NXYIS�GZWI�PZJGPWIS�MIWIPJIT[8�1#$,)&D�,2-,�,%�,2#�"#(,�%&�!D�\+%;.#*]#�,2#�)+&%$!-,)%+�( "!),,#*�)+�,2)(�$#>%$,�)(�,$ #�-+*1%$$#1,̂_5 "!),,#*�̀DaXWb�cXKNIMS 5 "!),,#*�B-,#dRV������4�@
71



���������	�
�
�������
������
��
����
�����	���������������� ��!�"��# $%&&&&'()*+),���#-��.�/ � 0 1����!�234����5!�"��#���, ���� ��6� �7�8&89 :�;0<##��8)8&8(=>?@ABC�DACEFGH
I.�-���J K��L "#����� # �#����"��#M�N O�, "#����:# #�P�0�P#���Q�L#�#J #�, "#����:# �#�����, "#���R!�<0;��P�0��#�L�0"��#�STU?VWC�EWX�=V>Y?HA�?Z�[E\�]WB>AUAWC�̂A_AWVA�̀[]̂a�bcd̂ T

e
����
f�e�g�����3��h���5i(9)M9&'X Z XF b

j�
k���l��m� "J<L�n Lo p<�p�I�#��� #<�� �M�qq, ����r�
s�t�5�j����u���
�5:�"�')M�8&'*v
����w��x�j���yj�
k���z���35{�	|v	�j�}u���
�5�u�������{e�g�����3��2���3{~, "#����P# �#�� j�
k���2���3{~������,��P#��L#<��
u�
3���
f�2����	53����
��e�g�����3�h���5i((M9&( u�
3���
f�v
����z2��2���t�}e�g�ezh�h���5~i&u�
3���
f�2��

��w��������e�g�����3�h���5i'89M&&� u�
3���
f�v
����z2��u5����
���ezh�h���5~i�'M�(&u�
3���
f�v
����e�g�����3��h���5~i8'+M9�' z2���
5~9*&&&z2���
5��

72



���������	�
������������������	������������
��������������� �!"#�$#%&'!"(#&#)�(*+,-.,/0��1���������2���	�3��4��1���������2����������	��������������������5)6%"�)&#)�����)7�8�)95)6%"�)&#)���$#%&'!"(#7*/�		������2�����:�;���������1�����<�:�=��������;��1����>������ �!"#7�����'�#�?��!#

@&�!)�����A���#������� �!"#����B#$#%&'!"(#7C*0+D.0DE @&�!)�����F�G���@7&%)����B#�$#%&'!"(#7C*0+.D/-@&�!)�����F�G��������� �!"#����B#$#%&'!"(#7C*HDD.+E+ @&�!)�����F�G���I)�J������� �!"#����B#$#%&'!"(#7C*/@&�!)�����FB$K����B#�$#%&'!"(#7C*/ @&�!)�����AB$K����B#�$#%&'!"(#7C*HH.0DH
L5MF5N�@&�!)�����5)6%"�)&#)���������� �!"#���B#�$#%&'!"(#7C*/ LOAKN�@&�!)�����8�)95)6%"�)&#)��������� �!"#�$#%&'!"(#7C*/
@&�!)������"#�(!"J��P$�LK�"&�QRSTNC*/ @&�!)������"#�(!"J��P$�LK�"&�SUVRB$NC*/�!""#)������'�#�?��!#C*0H.+W-./H, X"%)G% ����)7�P)�#"#(���)�����I!�(��)7%)YP)7#'�#7)#((C*/

73



�����������	
�������	���������������

��	�������
�����������

� !"#$�%&�'#()*#+,)-.�/+),(�0%+(,$ 1,#*�%$'#2-").),-,#*3� 45 -$#�6##,�%&�'#()*#+,)-.3�45 -$#�6##,�%&�'#,-).3� 45 -$#�6##,�%&�0%!!#$1)-.3�45 -$#�6##,�%&�7+* (,$)-.3� 45 -$#�6##,�%&�8 ".)1�7+&$-(,$ 1, $#3�9)+#-$�6##,�%&�8 ".)1�7+&$-(,$ 1, $#3� �#:�;%"(�0$#-,#*3�<1, -.�0-=),-.�7+>#(,!#+,3�� ?%#(�,2)(�@76�1-=, $#�%>#$.-=�:),2�-+A�%,2#$-"-,#!#+,B3CD<**),)%+-.�7+&%$!-,)%+EFG�HIJ�DKL�MJ������DJ�NOMPMQON�RIHSNOTU�CNNV�LD�SDHHNSL�LWN�ODSIO�LIX�SIRLKHN�IYDKJL�DJ�LWN������ODSIO�HNZNJKN�HNSNMZNV��IJV�LWNJ�IOTD�DJ�LWN�IYDKJL�D[�ODSIO�VNZNODRNH�HNMYQKHTNYNJL�LD�MJSHNITN�Q\�LWN�VM[[NHNJSN��LDDU��]MTTNV�DJN�YMOOIPN�̂_ML\�̀DOMV�aITLN�MJ�LWN�IYDKJL�D[����bc�d�GEe�MT�QNMJP�WNOV�LD�HNMYQKHTN�LWN�VNZNODRNH�DJSN�LWN�MJZDMSN�RISfNLT�IHN�HNSNMZNVU7�1#$,)&A�,2-,�,%�,2#�"#(,�%&�!A�g+%:.#*h#�,2#�)+&%$!-,)%+�( "!),,#*�)+�,2)(�$#=%$,�)(�,$ #�-+*1%$$#1,ij4 "!),,#*�kA]IS\�aIOLNHT 4 "!),,#*�?-,#lKP��������m
74



���������	�
�
�������
������
��
����
�����	���������������� ��!�"��# $%&&&&'()*&)+���#,��-�. � / 0����!�123����4!�"��#���+ ���� ��5� �6�7&7* 8�9/:##��7;7&7(<=>?@AB�C@BDEFG
H-�,���I J��K "#����� # �#����"��#L�M N�+ "#����8# #�O�/�O#���P�K#�#I #�+ "#����8# �#�����+ "#���Q!�:/9��O�/��#�K�/"��#�RST>UVB�DVW�<U=X>G@�>Y�ZD[�\VA=@T@VB�]@̂@VU@�_Z\]̀�abc]S

d
����
e�d�f�����2��g���4h(Li;jW Y WE a

k�
l���m��. � / 0���$��#n n� ����o�
p�q�4�k����r���
�4s���7'L�7&';t
����u��v�k���wk�
l���x���24y�	zt	�k�{r���
�4�r�������yd�f�����2��1���2y|+ "#����O# �#�� k�
l���1���2y|+��O#��K#:���+�/"��#�
r�
2���
e�1����	42����
��d�f�����2�g���4h& r�
2���
e�t
����x1��1���q�{d�f�dxg�g���4|h&r�
2���
e�1��

��u��������d�f�����2�g���4h& r�
2���
e�t
����x1��r4�}��
���dxg�g���4|h'L*i7r�
2���
e�t
����d�f�����2��g���4|h*L*~* x1���
4|*~&&&x1���
4��

75



���������	�
������������������	������������
��������������� �!"#�$#%&'!"(#&#)�(*+,-./��0���������1���	�2��3��0���������1����������	��������������������4)5%"�)&#)�����)6�7�)84)5%"�)&#)���$#%&'!"(#6*9�		������1�����:�;���������0�����<�:�=��������;��0����>������ �!"#6�����'�#�?��!#

@&�!)�����A���#������� �!"#����B#$#%&'!"(#6C*9 @&�!)�����D�E���@6&%)����B#�$#%&'!"(#6C*F/-@&�!)�����D�E��������� �!"#����B#$#%&'!"(#6C*9 @&�!)�����D�E���G)�H������� �!"#����B#$#%&'!"(#6C*+,.9I@&�!)�����DB$J����B#�$#%&'!"(#6C*9 @&�!)�����AB$J����B#�$#%&'!"(#6C*9
K4LD4M�@&�!)�����4)5%"�)&#)���������� �!"#���B#�$#%&'!"(#6C*9 KNAJM�@&�!)�����7�)84)5%"�)&#)��������� �!"#�$#%&'!"(#6C*9
@&�!)������"#�(!"H��O$�KJ�"&�PQRSMC*9 @&�!)������"#�(!"H��O$�KJ�"&�RTUQB$MC*9�!""#)������'�#�?��!#C*V.-,IF/ W"%)E% ����)6�O)�#"#(���)�����G!�(��)6%)XO)6#'�#6)#((C*9

76



���������	
�������	���������������
��	�������
�����������

� !"#$�%&�'#()*#+,)-.�/+),(�0%+(,$ 1,#*�%$'#2-").),-,#*34 56 -$#�7##,�%&�'#()*#+,)-.3456 -$#�7##,�%&�'#,-).34 56 -$#�7##,�%&�0%!!#$1)-.3���44456 -$#�7##,�%&�8+* (,$)-.34 56 -$#�7##,�%&�9 ".)1�8+&$-(,$ 1, $#34:)+#-$�7##,�%&�9 ".)1�8+&$-(,$ 1, $#34 �#;�<%"(�0$#-,#*3�4=1, -.�0->),-.�8+?#(,!#+,3����44�444 @%#(�,2)(�A87�1->, $#�%?#$.->�;),2�-+B�%,2#$-"-,#!#+,C3DE=**),)%+-.�8+&%$!-,)%+8�1#$,)&B�,2-,�,%�,2#�"#(,�%&�!B�F+%;.#*G#�,2#�)+&%$!-,)%+�( "!),,#*�)+�,2)(�$#>%$,�)(�,$ #�-+*1%$$#1,HI5 "!),,#*�JBKLMN�OLPQRST 5 "!),,#*�@-,#UVW������4�X
77



���������	�
�
�������
������
��
����
�����	���������������� ��!�"��# $%&&&&'()*&*+���#,��-�. � / 0����!�123����4!�"��#���+ ���� ��5� �6�7&7* 8�9/:##��7;7&7(<=>?@AB�C@BDEFG
H-�,���I J��K "#����� # �#����"��#L�M N�+ "#����8# #�O�/�O#���P�K#�#I #�+ "#����8# �#�����+ "#���Q!�:/9��O�/��#�K�/"��#�RST>UVB�DVW�<U=X>G@�>Y�ZD[�\VA=@T@VB�]@̂@VU@�_Z\]̀�abc]S

d
����
e�d�f�����2��g���4h7iL**;W Y WE a

j�
k���l��.�m8nn�+���:#�o�:�� ����p�
q�r�4�j����s���
�4$ ��7'L�7&7*t
����u��v�j���wj�
k���x���24y�	zt	�j�{s���
�4�s�������yd�f�����2��1���2y|+ "#����O# �#�� j�
k���1���2y|+��O#��K#:���+�/"��#�
s�
2���
e�1����	42����
��d�f�����2�g���4h*L*'& s�
2���
e�t
����x1��1���r�{d�f�dxg�g���4|h&s�
2���
e�1��

��u��������d�f�����2�g���4h}L)(( s�
2���
e�t
����x1��s4�~��
���dxg�g���4|h*L)�)s�
2���
e�t
����d�f�����2��g���4|h'&L*7( x1���
4|*}&&&x1���
4��

78



���������	�
������������������	������������
��������������� �!"#�$#%&'!"(#&#)�(*+,-../��0���������1���	�2��3��0���������1����������	��������������������4)5%"�)&#)�����)6�7�)84)5%"�)&#)���$#%&'!"(#6*+9-:;/�		������1�����<�=���������0�����>�<�?��������=��0����@������ �!"#6�����'�#�A��!#

B&�!)�����C���#������� �!"#����D#$#%&'!"(#6E*;-F/. B&�!)�����G�H���B6&%)����D#�$#%&'!"(#6E*+-IF;B&�!)�����G�H��������� �!"#����D#$#%&'!"(#6E*9+-9.. B&�!)�����G�H���J)�K������� �!"#����D#$#%&'!"(#6E*IB&�!)�����GD$L����D#�$#%&'!"(#6E*+-I./ B&�!)�����CD$L����D#�$#%&'!"(#6E*9-/::
M4NG4O�B&�!)�����4)5%"�)&#)���������� �!"#���D#�$#%&'!"(#6E*+9-:;/ MPCLO�B&�!)�����7�)84)5%"�)&#)��������� �!"#�$#%&'!"(#6E*I
B&�!)������"#�(!"K��Q$�ML�"&�RSTUOE*I B&�!)������"#�(!"K��Q$�ML�"&�TVWSD$OE*I�!""#)������'�#�A��!#E*/,X-,II Y"%)H% ����)6�Q)�#"#(���)�����J!�(��)6%)ZQ)6#'�#6)#((E*I

79



����������	
���������������������
���������	���������

�� !"#�$%�&"'()"*+(,-�.*(+'�/$*'+#�0+")�$#&"1,!(-(+,+")2� 34�,#"�5""+�$%�&"'()"*+(,-2�34�,#"�5""+�$%�&"+,(-26�7�� 34�,#"�5""+�$%�/$  "#0(,-2�34�,#"�5""+�$%�8*)�'+#(,-2� 34�,#"�5""+�$%�9�!-(0�8*%#,'+#�0+�#"2�:(*",#�5""+�$%�9�!-(0�8*%#,'+#�0+�#"2� �";�<$!'�/#",+")26=0+�,-�/,>(+,-�8*?"'+ "*+2�@�������� A$"'�+1('�B85�0,>+�#"�$?"#-,>�;(+1�,*C�$+1"#,!,+" "*+D2EF=))(+($*,-�8*%$# ,+($*8�0"#+(%C�+1,+�+$�+1"�!"'+�$%� C�G*$;-")H"�+1"�(*%$# ,+($*�'�! (++")�(*�+1('�#">$#+�('�+#�"�,*)0$##"0+IJ3�! (++")�KCLMNO�PMQRSTU 3�! (++")�A,+"VWX�6Y��6�6Z
80



���������	�
�
�������
������
��
����
�����	���������������� ��!�"��# $%&&&&'()&*+,���#-��.�/ � 0 1����!�234����5!�"��#���, ���� ��6� �7�8&8+ 9�:0;##��8<8&8(=>?@ABC�DACEFGH
I.�-���J K��L "#����� # �#����"��#M�N O�, "#����9# #�P�0�P#���Q�L#�#J #�, "#����9# �#�����, "#���R!�;0:��P�0��#�L�0"��#�STU?VWC�EWX�=V>Y?HA�?Z�[E\�]WB>AUAWC�̂A_AWVA�̀[]̂a�bcd̂ Te
����
f�e�g�����3��h���5i&TU?VWC�EWX�=V>Y?HA�?Z�[E\�j\YAWXFCV>AH�bc�d̂ Te
����
f�e�g�����3��h��43�k���ki&

l�
m���n��/ �# ��op ����q�
r�s�5�l����t���
�59�"�'<M�8&'+u
����v��w�l���xl�
m���y���35k�	zu	�l�{t���
�5�t�������ke�g�����3��2���3k|, "#������#�P# �#�� l�
m���2���3k|,��P#��L#;������J���h�k
��
��}
�5~��"��#-�������:-�/ � 0 1���,���#-�� ���� ���J P���#�:����P�����������K���"��S
y2���
5|+�&&& y2���
5��

81



����������	
��
����������������	
���
��������	������������������� !"#$�!%&!�����!'�(�!) !"#$�!%&!���*&#%+,$-&'./��	���
���
��0�1�����	���������2�0�3��������1	���	��4	
	��5�6�,$&'���7�+�&�8��,&./9��:�1	�;�	��1��2<����
	���35,$$&!����7�+�&�8��,&=./ >$#!?#6����!'�@!�&$&-���!�����A,�-��!'#!B@!'&+�&'!&--=./
(,%+&$����*&-#'&!�#���C!#�-�5�!-�$,?�&'��$*&D�+#�#���&'=/ EF,�$&�G&&�����*&-#'&!�#��=/EF,�$&�G&&�����*&��#�=/ EF,�$&�G&&�����5�%%&$?#��=/EF,�$&�G&&�����@!',-�$#��=/ EF,�$&�G&&�����>,+�#?�@!�$�-�$,?�,$&=/H#!&�$�G&&�����>,+�#?�@!�$�-�$,?�,$&=/ (&I�J�+-�5$&��&'=/K�&-��D#-��@G�?�6�,$&��"&$��6�I#�D��!L���D&$�+��&%&!�M=NOP''#�#�!���@!��$%��#�!

82



�����������	
�������
��
���������������������������� ���!�"����#����$��%&'�()*+,-.�+/0+�+1�+/)�2)3+�1-�4.�56178)9:)�+/)�,6-1*40+,16�3;24,++)9�,6�+/,3�*)<1*+�,3�+*;)�069(1**)(+=>?;24,++)9�@.A�B��C�����D ?;24,++)9�E0+)F"G�HIJ�HKHL

83



���������	�
�
�������
������
��
����
�����	���������������� ��!�"��# $%&&&&'()&*(+���#,��-�. � / 0����!�123����4!�"��#���+ ���� ��5� �6�7&78 9�:/;##��7<7&7(=>?@ABC�DACEFGH
I-�,���J K��L "#����� # �#����"��#M�N O�+ "#����9# #�P�/�P#���Q�L#�#J #�+ "#����9# �#�����+ "#���R!�;/:��P�/��#�L�/"��#�STU?VWC�EWX�=V>Y?HA�?Z�[E\�]WB>AUAWC�̂A_AWVA�̀[]̂a�bcd̂ T

e
����
f�e�g�����2��h���4i*M(&8X Z XF b

j�
k���l��$�# ��$�LJ �;LP ����m�
n�o�4�j����p���
�4qL#�(M�7&'<r
����s��t�j���uj�
k���v���24w�	xr	�j�yp���
�4�p�������we�g�����2��1���2wz+ "#����P# �#�� j�
k���1���2wz+��P#��L#;���+�/"��#�
p�
2���
f�1����	42����
��e�g�����2�h���4i& p�
2���
f�r
����v1��1���o�ye�g�evh�h���4zi{88p�
2���
f�1��

��s��������e�g�����2�h���4i& p�
2���
f�r
����v1��p4�|��
���evh�h���4zi8<8p�
2���
f�r
����e�g�����2��h���4zi(M8&{ v1���
4z8}&&&v1���
4�~

84



���������	�
������������������	������������
��������������� �!"#�$#%&'!"(#&#)�(*+,-./��0���������1���	�2��3��0���������1����������	��������������������4)5%"�)&#)�����)6�7�)84)5%"�)&#)���$#%&'!"(#6*+,99+�		������1�����:�;���������0�����<�:�=��������;��0����>������ �!"#6�����'�#�?��!#

@&�!)�����A���#������� �!"#����B#$#%&'!"(#6C*. @&�!)�����D�E���@6&%)����B#�$#%&'!"(#6C*FGH@&�!)�����D�E��������� �!"#����B#$#%&'!"(#6C*+,99+ @&�!)�����D�E���I)�J������� �!"#����B#$#%&'!"(#6C*.@&�!)�����DB$K����B#�$#%&'!"(#6C*. @&�!)�����AB$K����B#�$#%&'!"(#6C*.
L4MD4N�@&�!)�����4)5%"�)&#)���������� �!"#���B#�$#%&'!"(#6C*+,99+ LOAKN�@&�!)�����7�)84)5%"�)&#)��������� �!"#�$#%&'!"(#6C*.
@&�!)������"#�(!"J��P$�LK�"&�QRSTNC*. @&�!)������"#�(!"J��P$�LK�"&�SUVRB$NC*.�!""#)������'�#�?��!#C*//.,-/W X"%)E% ����)6�P)�#"#(���)�����I!�(��)6%)YP)6#'�#6)#((C*.

85



��������	
�������
���������������
�
��������������������

 !"#$%�&'�($)*+$,-*./�0,*-)�1&,)-%!2-$+�&%($3.#*/*-.-$+45 67!.%$�8$$-�&'�($)*+$,-*./4567!.%$�8$$-�&'�($-.*/45 67!.%$�8$$-�&'�1&""$%2*./4567!.%$�8$$-�&'�9,+!)-%*./4�5�555 67!.%$�8$$-�&'�:!#/*2�9,'%.)-%!2-!%$45;*,$.%�8$$-�&'�:!#/*2�9,'%.)-%!2-!%$45  $<�=&#)�1%$.-$+4�>2-!./�1.?*-./�9,@$)-"$,-4����A����B C&$)�-3*)�D98�2.?-!%$�&@$%/.?�<*-3�.,E�&-3$%.#.-$"$,-F4GHI>++*-*&,./�9,'&%".-*&,JKL�MNMOHPHQO�RSHTUMVIW9�2$%-*'E�-3.-�-&�-3$�#$)-�&'�"E�X,&</$+Y$�-3$�*,'&%".-*&,�)!#"*--$+�*,�-3*)�%$?&%-�*)�-%!$�.,+2&%%$2-Z[6!#"*--$+�\E]M̂_�̀MUOHTI 6!#"*--$+�C.-$abc��B���5��
86



���������	�
�
�������
������
��
����
�����	���������������� ��!�"��# $%&&&&'()*))+���#,��-�. � / 0����!�123����4!�"��#���+ ���� ��5� �6�7&7* 8�9/:##��7)7&7(;<=>?@A�B?ACDEF
G-�,���H I��J "#����� # �#����"��#K�L M�+ "#����8# #�N�/�N#���O�J#�#H #�+ "#����8# �#�����+ "#���P!�:/9��N�/��#�J�/"��#�QRS=TUA�CUV�;T<W=F?�=X�YCZ�[U@<?S?UA�\?]?UT?�̂Y[\_�̀ab\R

c
����
d�c�e�����2��f���4gh)(K&i7V X VD `

j�
k���l��$:��:�m ����n�
o�p�4�j����q���
�48�"�7K�7&&)r
����s��t�j���uj�
k���v���24w�	xr	�j�yq���
�4�q�������wc�e�����2��1���2wz+ "#����N# �#�� j�
k���1���2wz{�����+��N#��J#:��
q�
2���
d�1����	42����
��c�e�����2�f���4g'((K7'& q�
2���
d�r
����v1��1���p�yc�e�cvf�f���4zg*)K*'|q�
2���
d�1��

��s��������c�e�����2�f���4g*'}K|'i q�
2���
d�r
����v1��q4�~��
���cvf�f���4zg'&(Kh|)q�
2���
d�r
����c�e�����2��f���4zg*)&K&i7 v1���
4z*h&&&v1���
4��

87



���������	�
������������������	������������
��������������� �!"#�$#%&'!"(#&#)�(*+,-./01��2���������3���	�4��5��2���������3����������	��������������������6)7%"�)&#)�����)8�9�):6)7%"�)&#)���$#%&'!"(#8*/�		������3�����;�<���������2�����=�;�>��������<��2����?������ �!"#8�����'�#�@��!#

A&�!)�����B���#������� �!"#����C#$#%&'!"(#8D*E,,.F11 A&�!)�����G�H���A8&%)����C#�$#%&'!"(#8D*EI.,F/A&�!)�����G�H��������� �!"#����C#$#%&'!"(#8D*-+I.-,J A&�!)�����G�H���K)�L������� �!"#����C#$#%&'!"(#8D*/A&�!)�����GC$M����C#�$#%&'!"(#8D*/ A&�!)�����BC$M����C#�$#%&'!"(#8D*01.I/J
N6OG6P�A&�!)�����6)7%"�)&#)���������� �!"#���C#�$#%&'!"(#8D*/ NQBMP�A&�!)�����9�):6)7%"�)&#)��������� �!"#�$#%&'!"(#8D*/
A&�!)������"#�(!"L��R$�NM�"&�STUVPD*/ A&�!)������"#�(!"L��R$�NM�"&�UWXTC$PD*/�!""#)������'�#�@��!#D*-0./I1./,- Y"%)H% ����)8�R)�#"#(���)�����K!�(��)8%)ZR)8#'�#8)#((D*/

88



�����������	
�������
���������������

�
��������������������

 !"#$%�&'�($)*+$,-*./�0,*-)�1&,)-%!2-$+�&%($3.#*/*-.-$+45 67!.%$�8$$-�&'�($)*+$,-*./4567!.%$�8$$-�&'�($-.*/49���� 67!.%$�8$$-�&'�1&""$%2*./4�5�55567!.%$�8$$-�&'�:,+!)-%*./4;�5�<�5�; 67!.%$�8$$-�&'�=!#/*2�:,'%.)-%!2-!%$45>*,$.%�8$$-�&'�=!#/*2�:,'%.)-%!2-!%$45  $?�@&#)�1%$.-$+4�5�A2-!./�1.B*-./�:,C$)-"$,-4�95��555�555 D&$)�-3*)�E:8�2.B-!%$�&C$%/.B�?*-3�.,F�&-3$%.#.-$"$,-G4HIJA++*-*&,./�:,'&%".-*&,KLMN�OPIQLMRJ�STUV�QINMTJJMNWI�XONI�YOQ�JOZI�RMQWILJ�MN[�\]̂�M_MUIZINUJ�YOQ�JOZI�RMQWILJ̀�̂VI�KLMN�SMJ�MZIN[I[�UO�UVI�YaLL�;<b�5�cIMQJ�MJ�MLLOSM_LI�_c�dWU���9��MN[�UVI�MZIN[I[�KLMN�MLLOSI[�[IJTeNMUTON�OY�UVI�MQIM�MJ�MN�IWONOZTW�ORROQUaNTUc�XONÌ��\NWLa[TNe�UVI�M[[TUTON�OY�M�NIS�[IPILORIQ��ILTeT_LI�UO�_I�QITZ_aQJI[�aN[IQ�UVI�KLMǸ�̂\f�TJ�_ITNe�VIL[�YOQ�[IPILORIQ�QITZ_aQJIZINUJ̀:�2$%-*'F�-3.-�-&�-3$�#$)-�&'�"F�g,&?/$+h$�-3$�*,'&%".-*&,�)!#"*--$+�*,�-3*)�%$B&%-�*)�-%!$�.,+2&%%$2-ij6!#"*--$+�kFlMWc�mMLUIQJ 6!#"*--$+�D.-$dae�;���;5;�
89



���������	�
�
�������
������
��
����
�����	���������������� ��!�"��# $%&&&&'()*)*+���#,��-�. � / 0����!�123����4!�"��#���+ ���� ��5� �6�7&7* 8�9/:##��7;7&7(<=>?@AB�C@BDEFG
H-�,���I J��K "#����� # �#����"��#L�M N�+ "#����8# #�O�/�O#���P�K#�#I #�+ "#����8# �#�����+ "#���Q!�:/9��O�/��#�K�/"��#�RST>UVB�DVW�<U=X>G@�>Y�ZD[�\VA=@T@VB�]@̂@VU@�_Z\]̀�abc]S

d
����
e�d�f�����2��g���4hi*'L'jiW Y WE a

k�
l���m��8K ������n��"��#:�OL�oo+ ����p�
q�r�4�k����s���
�4t�J�iL�7&'ju
����v��w�k���xk�
l���y���24z�	{u	�k�|s���
�4�s�������zd�f�����2��1���2z}+ "#����O# �#�� k�
l���1���2z}+��O#��K#:���+�/"��#�
s�
2���
e�1����	42����
��d�f�����2�g���4h& s�
2���
e�u
����y1��1���r�|d�f�dyg�g���4}h&s�
2���
e�1��

��v��������d�f�����2�g���4h& s�
2���
e�u
����y1��s4�~��
���dyg�g���4}h'*;L)i�s�
2���
e�u
����d�f�����2��g���4}h(j*L**' y1���
4}*j&&&y1���
4��&

90



���������	�
������������������	������������
��������������� �!"#�$#%&'!"(#&#)�(*+,-.-/+��0���������1���	�2��3��0���������1����������	��������������������4)5%"�)&#)�����)6�7�)84)5%"�)&#)���$#%&'!"(#6*9�		������1�����:�;���������0�����<�:�=��������;��0����>������ �!"#6�����'�#�?��!#

@&�!)�����A���#������� �!"#����B#$#%&'!"(#6C*9 @&�!)�����D�E���@6&%)����B#�$#%&'!"(#6C*F9.G,F@&�!)�����D�E��������� �!"#����B#$#%&'!"(#6C*+-9.,+H @&�!)�����D�E���I)�J������� �!"#����B#$#%&'!"(#6C*9@&�!)�����DB$K����B#�$#%&'!"(#6C*9 @&�!)�����AB$K����B#�$#%&'!"(#6C*9
L4MD4N�@&�!)�����4)5%"�)&#)���������� �!"#���B#�$#%&'!"(#6C*9 LOAKN�@&�!)�����7�)84)5%"�)&#)��������� �!"#�$#%&'!"(#6C*9
@&�!)������"#�(!"J��P$�LK�"&�QRSTNC*9 @&�!)������"#�(!"J��P$�LK�"&�SUVRB$NC*9�!""#)������'�#�?��!#C*F9.F++.GW9 X"%)E% ����)6�P)�#"#(���)�����I!�(��)6%)YP)6#'�#6)#((C*9

91



������������	
�������	���������������

��	�������
�����������

� !"#$�%&�'#()*#+,)-.�/+),(�0%+(,$ 1,#*�%$'#2-").),-,#*34 56 -$#�7##,�%&�'#()*#+,)-.3456 -$#�7##,�%&�'#,-).34 56 -$#�7##,�%&�0%!!#$1)-.3456 -$#�7##,�%&�8+* (,$)-.3�9��444 56 -$#�7##,�%&�: ".)1�8+&$-(,$ 1, $#3�4�444;)+#-$�7##,�%&�: ".)1�8+&$-(,$ 1, $#34 �#<�=%"(�0$#-,#*3�44>1, -.�0-?),-.�8+@#(,!#+,3�4 A%#(�,2)(�B87�1-?, $#�%@#$.-?�<),2�-+C�%,2#$-"-,#!#+,D3EF>**),)%+-.�8+&%$!-,)%+EGGH�IF�JKLG�K�MFNNGMIOFP�IF�IQG�9499�RFMKS�TKU�MKVIWNG�NGMGOXGH��IQGNG�YKZ�KP�GUINK�PWJ[GN�OP�IQG�9499�NGVFNI\�TQG��IFIKS�IKU�MKVIWNG�NGOJ[WNZGJGPIZ�OP�9499�ZQFWSH�[G��]99�]9�\�EFI��]�99]�]9�\��̂̂T_̀a�bcdbecTf�gha�ihjhkei�lf�h�TdcEhid�̀E�abc̀Ek�949m̂ �̂aMKPPGSS��IQG�HGXGSFVGN�OZ�nWSSo�NGOJ[WNZGH�KZ�Fn�949���QFSHOPp�FPIF�T̀c�nFN�IQG�qOIo�Fn�bFNIKpGrZ�OPXFOMG�ZW[JOIIKS\8�1#$,)&C�,2-,�,%�,2#�"#(,�%&�!C�s+%<.#*t#�,2#�)+&%$!-,)%+�( "!),,#*�)+�,2)(�$#?%$,�)(�,$ #�-+*1%$$#1,u5̂ "!),,#*�vCjKMo�gKSIGNZ 5 "!),,#*�A-,#hWp�9���949m
92



���������	�
�
�������
������
��
����
�����	���������������� ��!�"��# $%&&&&'()('*+���#,��-�. � / 0����!�123����4!�"��#���+ ���� ��5� �6�7&7* 8�9/:##��7;7&7(<=>?@AB�C@BDEFG
H-�,���I J��K "#����� # �#����"��#L�M N�+ "#����8# #�O�/�O#���P�K#�#I #�+ "#����8# �#�����+ "#���Q!�:/9��O�/��#�K�/"��#�RST>UVB�DVW�<U=X>G@�>Y�ZD[�\VA=@T@VB�]@̂@VU@�_Z\]̀�abc]S

d
����
e�d�f�����2��g���4h'*(L))&W Y WE a

i�
j���k��8# �:�/�l �m�n , ����o�
p�q�4�i����r���
�4s ��'tL�7&')u
����v��w�i���xi�
j���y���24z�	{u	�i�|r���
�4�r�������zd�f�����2��1���2z}+ "#����O# �#�� i�
j���1���2z}+��O#��K#:���+�/"��#�
r�
2���
e�1����	42����
��d�f�����2�g���4h7~L'~7 r�
2���
e�u
����y1��1���q�|d�f�dyg�g���4}h'*L*;'r�
2���
e�1��

��v��������d�f�����2�g���4h(tL*�~ r�
2���
e�u
����y1��r4����
���dyg�g���4}h(L;�&r�
2���
e�u
����d�f�����2��g���4}h(*L&'& y1���
4}*;&&&y1���
4��

93



���������	�
������������������	������������
��������������� �!"#�$#%&'!"(#&#)�(*+,-.//0��1���������2���	�3��4��1���������2����������	��������������������5)6%"�)&#)�����)7�8�)95)6%"�)&#)���$#%&'!"(#7*+,0.-::�		������2�����;�<���������1�����=�;�>��������<��1����?������ �!"#7�����'�#�@��!#

A&�!)�����B���#������� �!"#����C#$#%&'!"(#7D*EF.F-: A&�!)�����G�H���A7&%)����C#�$#%&'!"(#7D*-.-E/A&�!)�����G�H��������� �!"#����C#$#%&'!"(#7D*EI./F- A&�!)�����G�H���J)�K������� �!"#����C#$#%&'!"(#7D*0A&�!)�����GC$L����C#�$#%&'!"(#7D*0 A&�!)�����BC$L����C#�$#%&'!"(#7D*+,.E/I
M5NG5O�A&�!)�����5)6%"�)&#)���������� �!"#���C#�$#%&'!"(#7D*+,0.-:: MPBLO�A&�!)�����8�)95)6%"�)&#)��������� �!"#�$#%&'!"(#7D*0
A&�!)������"#�(!"K��Q$�ML�"&�RSTUOD*0 A&�!)������"#�(!"K��Q$�ML�"&�TVWSC$OD*0�!""#)������'�#�@��!#D*-.I-/.+XE Y"%)H% ����)7�Q)�#"#(���)�����J!�(��)7%)ZQ)7#'�#7)#((D*0

94



����������	
�������
���������������
�
��������������������

 !"#$%�&'�($)*+$,-*./�0,*-)�1&,)-%!2-$+�&%($3.#*/*-.-$+45 67!.%$�8$$-�&'�($)*+$,-*./4567!.%$�8$$-�&'�($-.*/45 67!.%$�8$$-�&'�1&""$%2*./4567!.%$�8$$-�&'�9,+!)-%*./4:5�555 67!.%$�8$$-�&'�;!#/*2�9,'%.)-%!2-!%$45<*,$.%�8$$-�&'�;!#/*2�9,'%.)-%!2-!%$45  $=�>&#)�1%$.-$+4�?2-!./�1.@*-./�9,A$)-"$,-4���B���555 C&$)�-3*)�D98�2.@-!%$�&A$%/.@�=*-3�.,E�&-3$%.#.-$"$,-F4GHI?++*-*&,./�9,'&%".-*&,JKL�MNMOHPHQO�RSHTUMVIW�XRUYZQ[�RQOR�LJ\�]RT�VHQYZQ[�YHSHURVHT�ZQSRẐH�I_NPZOOMU��̀MUMPMaRR�bORTM[HW9�2$%-*'E�-3.-�-&�-3$�#$)-�&'�"E�c,&=/$+d$�-3$�*,'&%".-*&,�)!#"*--$+�*,�-3*)�%$@&%-�*)�-%!$�.,+2&%%$2-ef6!#"*--$+�gEhM̂i�jMUOHTI 6!#"*--$+�C.-$k_[�Bl��B5B�
95



���������	�
�
�������
������
��
����
�����	���������������� ��!�"��# $%&&&&'()&*+,���#-��.�/ � 0 1����!�234����5!�"��#���, ���� ��6� �7�8&89 :�;0<##��9&8&8(=>?@ABC�DACEFGH
I.�-���J K��L "#����� # �#����"��#M�N O�, "#����:# #�P�0�P#���Q�L#�#J #�, "#����:# �#�����, "#���R!�<0;��P�0��#�L�0"��#�STU?VWC�EWX�=V>Y?HA�?Z�[E\�]WB>AUAWC�̂A_AWVA�̀[]̂a�bcd̂ T

e
����
f�e�g�����3��h���5i()(M8j+X Z XF b

k�
l���m��:#�-n�� ����o�
p�q�5�k����r���
�5s�;�8'M�8&'+t
����u��v�k���wk�
l���x���35y�	zt	�k�{r���
�5�r�������ye�g�����3��2���3y|, "#����P# �#�� k�
l���2���3y|,��P#��L#<���,�0"��#�
r�
3���
f�2����	53����
��e�g�����3�h���5i& r�
3���
f�t
����x2��2���q�{e�g�exh�h���5|i'(jM*'*r�
3���
f�2��

��u��������e�g�����3�h���5i& r�
3���
f�t
����x2��r5�}��
���exh�h���5|i8M&'~r�
3���
f�t
����e�g�����3��h���5|i99*M+99 x2���
5|9~&&&x2���
5��&

96



���������	�
������������������	������������
��������������� �!"#�$#%&'!"(#&#)�(*+,+-./0��1���������2���	�3��4��1���������2����������	��������������������5)6%"�)&#)�����)7�8�)95)6%"�)&#)���$#%&'!"(#7*:�		������2�����;�<���������1�����=�;�>��������<��1����?������ �!"#7�����'�#�@��!#

A&�!)�����B���#������� �!"#����C#$#%&'!"(#7D*: A&�!)�����E�F���A7&%)����C#�$#%&'!"(#7D*G,-+.0A&�!)�����E�F��������� �!"#����C#$#%&'!"(#7D*.::-..H A&�!)�����E�F���I)�J������� �!"#����C#$#%&'!"(#7D*:A&�!)�����EC$K����C#�$#%&'!"(#7D*.+H-/LH A&�!)�����BC$K����C#�$#%&'!"(#7D*:
M5NE5O�A&�!)�����5)6%"�)&#)���������� �!"#���C#�$#%&'!"(#7D*: MPBKO�A&�!)�����8�)95)6%"�)&#)��������� �!"#�$#%&'!"(#7D*:
A&�!)������"#�(!"J��Q$�MK�"&�RSTUOD*: A&�!)������"#�(!"J��Q$�MK�"&�TVWSC$OD*:�!""#)������'�#�@��!#D*0H-:0H-:XL Y"%)F% ����)7�Q)�#"#(���)�����I!�(��)7%)ZQ)7#'�#7)#((D*:

97



����������	
��������������������������

������������������ �����

!"#$%&�'(�)%*+,%-.+/0�1-+.*�2'-*.&"3.%,�'&)%4/$+0+./.%,5� 67"/&%�8%%.�'(�)%*+,%-.+/05�67"/&%�8%%.�'(�)%./+05� 67"/&%�8%%.�'(�2'##%&3+/059:�����67"/&%�8%%.�'(�;-,"*.&+/05� 67"/&%�8%%.�'(�<"$0+3�;-(&/*.&"3."&%5�=+-%/&�8%%.�'(�<"$0+3�;-(&/*.&"3."&%5��>�� !%?�@'$*�2&%/.%,5	��A3."/0�2/B+./0�;-C%*.#%-.5������������ D'%*�.4+*�E;8�3/B."&%�'C%&0/B�?+.4�/-F�'.4%&/$/.%#%-.G5HIJA,,+.+'-/0�;-('&#/.+'-KJ�LM����>�NOPQRSI�LT�QUVJ�PWOT�UOJ�ITXIXY�ZUISI�[VWW�\I�O�SIQRST�LM����	�]QOQI�QÔIJ��OTX�O�SIQRST�LM�O�PLSQVLT�LM����>Y�ZUVJ�SIPLSQ�VJ�_OXI�\OJIX�LT�QUI�QLQOW�O_LRTQ�LM����>�WLNOW�Z̀a�bIPQ�OTX�XLIJ�TLQ�VTNWRXI�QUI�O_LRTQ�QUOQ�VJ�QL�\I�SIQRSTIXY;�3%&.+(F�.4/.�.'�.4%�$%*.�'(�#F�c-'?0%,d%�.4%�+-('&#/.+'-�*"$#+..%,�+-�.4+*�&%B'&.�+*�.&"%�/-,3'&&%3.ef6"$#+..%,�gFhONi�jOWQISJ 6"$#+..%,�D/.%KRk�>������9
98



���������	�
�
�������
������
��
����
�����	���������������� ��!�"��# $%&&&&'()&*)+���#,��-�. � / 0����!�123����4!�"��#���+ ���� ��5� �6�7&78 9�:/;##��7)7&7(<=>?@AB�C@BDEFG
H-�,���I J��K "#����� # �#����"��#L�M N�+ "#����9# #�O�/�O#���P�K#�#I #�+ "#����9# �#�����+ "#���Q!�;/:��O�/��#�K�/"��#�RST>UVB�DVW�<U=X>G@�>Y�ZD[�\VA=@T@VB�]@̂@VU@�_Z\]̀�abc]Sd
����
e�d�f�����2��g���4h&ST>UVB�DVW�<U=X>G@�>Y�ZD[�i[X@VWEBU=@G�ab�c]Sd
����
e�d�f�����2��g��32�j���jh&iV̂E=>VT@VBDF�DVW�k>VliV̂E=>VT@VBDF�ZD[�i[X@VWEBU=@Gab�c]S

m�
n���o��MI��$;��� #�p;KqO:��r ����s�
t�u�4�m����v���
�4$ ��wL�7&'xy
����z��{�m���|m�
n���}���24j�	~y	�m��v���
�4�v�������jd�f�����2��1���2j�+ "#������#�O# �#�� m�
n���1���2j�������+��O#��K#;��
}1���
4�8x&&& }1���
4��

99



����������	
���	�	�����	����	��	
���	�	������������������������� �!�"�#$%&%���'%(%�)%�* "'+�,-�.'��#��(��-�/���)01�2��������3�����4����5�6789:��;$�<%#��=%�$�#0�*>)&)����(%+
>%$��?�#�����

1����	����3�����4����@�� A��	B�2����	��C	��������	�����D�����	��	EC	������	���@��
���������������	�����F	����1�	����B��������G����������@� HI�����J�������������	����@�HI�����J�������������@� HI�����J�������1���B���@�HI�����J�������C	��������@� HI�����J�������A����B�C	�������B����@�K�	����J�������A����B�C	�������B����@� ��L�M����1������@�N�����G����CJ�B�2������
����2�L��G��	O���G��������	�P@QRST������	���C	�������	UVWXSYZV[W\]ZXŴ�_VZ̀ XaR̂b�ĉWX9�̀]\ddẐb]Xe�\Wf�gWc\hVR�SgdRbĥRi

100



�����������	
�������
�������������������������������������� !�"#�������������������$������"�����������%���������$����"�������&'($������"�)�*+,-�.+/0123 ($������"�4���567�89:�8;8<

101



���������	�
�
�������
������
��
����
�����	���������������� �!�"��"#�$�%&� '())))*+,+*-.�&�/0��1�2���3�4����!5678����9!�:��/� �.���� ���;���<�-)-= >&?3#//� -,-)-+@1�/A����#B����?������C���/���D)EFG�HIGJKLMNOP�QIGRNSTUVNITMLMSWTMGKX�������Y�
Z�[\]̂[�
Z���
��9�����9���_��D̀+C,)aCb-ac
�X�
d�e�9�f�
g��Yh�����79�����
�ijk�����7�]���87�Y�����
���
�������������9���_���
����Yj�����Zl�������
����8Y��
Z��l�m�
d�9�������Z
�����
��Y78����9�������Y���
����Y���7���9�
����no

102




